# FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH LOWERED LIKELIHOOD OF SUICIDAL IDEATION FOR TRANS AND NONBINARY INDIVIDUALS

# By

# **EMILY BURISH**

Bachelor of Arts in Psychology University of Wisconsin – Eau Claire Eau Claire, WI 2016

Master of Science in Educational Psychology Oklahoma State University Stillwater, OK 2019

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY July, 2022

# FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH LOWERED LIKELIHOOD OF SUICIDAL IDEATION FOR TRANS AND NONBINARY INDIVIDUALS

Dissertation Approved:
Dr. Tonya Hammer
Dissertation Adviser
Dr. Julie Koch
Dr. Tom Berry
Dr. Douglas Knutson
Dr. Jam Khojasteh

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The only way I can start an acknowledgment page is to begin and continuously thank my incredible family who has supported, encouraged, and rooted me on throughout the years. This milestone would not have been possible without all of you behind me; thank you to my Mom, my Dad, Ben, David, Michael, Anna, Carly, Christopher, Nora, and Atlas. And of course, a special highlight to best canine companion, my sweet Monster, who spent every late-night paper writing session with me since day one. You all reminded throughout this process what is truly the most important. I love you all so much.

A MASSIVE thank you to some of the most incredible friends I brought with me into this journey and to some of my closest friends I made along the way. You all made some of the hardest times more bearable, and the celebrations more special. A special shout out to the best: Dre, Dani, you two are the greatest friends I could have ever asked for. The Louisiana Fam Marcus, Megan, Emily, I absolutely would not be here without you all. The Oklahoma refuge: Marcella, Amanda, Christine, Mckinzey, honestly what would I have done without you all. Thank you all for being such incredible people and providing such needed solidarity and lighthearted moments. Thank you, Conall for the constant encouragement and the best phone chats. And a shout out to my incredibly empowering group of interns, Carli, Ashley, and Austen, you all really saw the stress at the end, and I am so grateful for a group as fun and supportive as you all.

A special and necessary recognition for the best, most wonderful, supportive, and loving partner. Thank you, Alex, for being such a solid and caring force during such a wild time. You have been the most grounding presences and the best supporter during this last half of graduate school. I am so excited to have you with me as this chapter ends and the next one begins.

A huge thank you and shout out to the MVP advisor, Dr. Tonya Hammer. I am so beyond grateful for all of your guidance, commitment, and encouragement these last several years. I am so lucky to truly one of the most student-oriented and uplifting advisors, I would not have made it without you. Also, a thank you to my committee for your consultation and helping me end with a worthwhile project.

Name: EMILY BURISH

Date of Degree: JULY, 2022

Title of Study: FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH LOWERED LIKELIHOOD OF

SUICIDAL IDEATION FOR TRANS AND NONBINARY

**INDIVIDUALS** 

Major Field: COUNSELING PSYCHOLOGY

Abstract: It is estimated that approximately one million people die by suicide each year around the world (World Health Organization, 2014). However, it has been demonstrated that marginalized individuals experience higher rates of suicidality (Almeida et al., 2009), including transgender and nonbinary (TNB) individuals who have been found to have a suicide risk that ranges from 18% - 47% (Clements-Noelle et al., 2006; Maguen & Shipherd, 2010; Moody & Smith, 2013). A noted phenomenon within suicidality is the higher frequency of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts in the general public and among TNB folx (Borges et al., 2008; Herman et al., 2019). Previous research has primarily focused on risk factors to understand what might increase the risk of suicidality, but there is growing work focusing on protective factors for TNB individuals. The purpose of this study is to assess multiple protective factors for TNB individuals experiencing suicidal ideation through quantitative methodology. A total of N = 95 TNB participants were recruited to complete an online questionnaire. Participants reported their experiences with suicidal ideation (SI) as well as their endorsement of protective factors across eight different factors: correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, body congruency, community connectedness, and perceived friend and family social support. A logistic regress was conducted to assess SI. The model was significant  $\chi^2$  (8, N = 95) = 17.45, p = .026 with correct chosen name on legal documents and community connectedness being significant factors. Implications and limitations to the study are discussed.

*Keywords*: suicide ideation, protective factors, transgender, nonbinary, gender identity

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
Suicidal Ideation and Suicidal Attempts	
Protective Factors in General Public	3
Minority Stress Model	5
Socioecological Model of Protective Factors	6
Suicide Among lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Communities	7
Suicide Among TNB Communities	
Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts Among TNB Communities	9
Meyer's Minority Stress Model for TNB Communities	9
Gender Minority Stress and Resilience Model (GMSR)	
Protective Factors Among TNB Populations	
Individual Level Protective Factors	12
Optimism	12
Pride	13
Body Congruence	13
Relationship Level Protective Factors	
Social Support	
Community Level Protective Factors	
TNB Community Connectedness	
Societal Level Protective Factors	
Affirmation and Transition	
Current Study	
III. METHODOLOGY	20
	20
Participants	20
Sample Characteristics	
Procedures	
Design	
Measures	
Demographic Information	
Dependent Variable	24

Chapter	Page
Legal Pronoun and Name Use  Optimism  Pride  Community Connectedness  Body Congruence  Social Support  Data Analysis	24 25 26 26
IV. RESULTS	29
Assessing Assumptions Primary Analysis	
V. DISCUSSION	33
Analysis	34 36 37 37 38
REFERENCES	41
APPENDICES	66 72 96 99 109

# LIST OF TABLES

Γable	Page
1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants	66
2. Demographic Characteristics of Participants Continued	68
3. Descriptive Statistics for Study Variables	70
4. Correlations for Factors of SI	71
5. Binary Logistic Regression Analysis: Variables of SI	72

### CHAPTER I

### INTRODUCTION

Suicide is ranked as the third-leading cause of death for young adults and adolescents (15-24 years old) in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011). According to the World Health Organization (WHO, 2014), an estimated one million people in the general public die by suicide around the world each year. There have been increasing efforts to better understand the various factors that relate to an individual's suicide risk; however, suicide prevention continues to persist as a difficult task as rates rise in the United States (Curtin, et al., 2016a).

Within the general population in the United States, there are a number of themes and variables that have been identified as suicide risk factors (e.g., substance use, psychiatric diagnosis, increased levels of aggressive behaviors, social isolation and loneliness, history of trauma and abuse, homelessness, and previous suicidal attempts; McCullumsmith et al., 2013; Mitchell et al., 2014). Binary gender differences also correlate with some suicide risk behaviors. For example, women were 1.8 times more likely to attempt suicide; whereas suicide rates are approximately 3 – 4 times higher among men in comparison to women, such that men died by suicide 3.88x more than women in 2020 (Garnett, et al., 2022).

Although suicide is a public health concern for the general public, there are even higher rates for individuals who experience oppression thus resulting in disproportionate rates of suicidality. A majority of underrepresented and underserved populations are some of the highest-risk groups for suicide (Almeida et al., 2009; Hottes et al., 2016). Specifically, for transgender and nonbinary (TNB) individuals, research has indicated suicide rates that range from 18% to 47% (Clements-Noelle et al., 2006; Grant et al., 2010; Maguen & Shipherd, 2010; Moody & Smith, 2013). In comparison, the general public has a suicide attempt rate of approximately 4.6 % (Maguen & Shipherd, 2010). The severe disparity indicates that further investigation is needed to better understand complex factors that would potentially relate to lower rates of suicidality for TNB individuals.

Given the heightened rates of suicide among TNB individuals, addressing possible protective factors of suicide can lead to better understanding of elements that lower the risk for suicide among TNB people. Overall, there is a continued lack of literature that addresses the active role of protective factors that buffer the effects of suicidality for the TNB community.

### **CHAPTER II**

### REVIEW OF LITERATURE

# **Suicidal Ideation and Suicidal Attempts**

Suicidal ideation refers to suicidal thoughts, including contemplating or planning to end one's own life. Suicidal behavior includes behaviors and specific actions taken with the intention of ending life, which would include suicide attempts or deaths from suicide (Gosling et al., 2022). There have been several trends within suicidal behavior such as suicide attempts occurring more frequently than deaths from suicide; specifically, attempts occur 20 times more frequently than deaths from suicides (WHO, 2011).

However, a more common phenomenon is higher rates of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts (Borges et al., 2008); therefore, not everyone who experiences suicidal ideation goes on to attempt suicide. Because only approximately one-third of individuals who have thought about suicide will progress to a suicide attempt, increasing attention has been paid to identifying factors which distinguish between these two groups (Glenn and Nock, 2014; Nock et al., 2013).

# **Protective Factors in General Public**

Protective factors are understood to not simply be a lack of risk factors in an individual's life, nor are they the opposite of risk factors (Cha & Nock, 2008). Protective factors are aspects that tend to reduce the likelihood and vulnerability of suicidal

behavior and increase the likelihood of positive outcomes (Chehil & Kutcher, 2012; Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006; Evans et al., 2004). Furthermore, the interest in protective factors increased after observing that those with exposure to risk factors do not always continue to develop suicidal behaviors (Beautrais et al., 2005). A number of the models discuss the importance of protective factors to understand suicidality. Regarding suicidology research, the study and emphasis on protective factors is an understudied concept in comparison to the existing literature of suicide risk factors (de Beurs et al., 2019).

Emphasizing the importance of protective factors leads to an increased focus on resilience, rather than the overemphasis on the negativity of risk factors. Protective factors indicate that potential solutions to suicidality may be addressed by highlighting factors that increase one's sense of resiliency (Beautrais et al., 2005; Sher, 2019). Within the general adult population, there exists a range of potential protective factors such as, but not limited to, a confiding and supportive relationship (Chang et al., 2017), good coping and adaptive skills (Mirkovic et al., 2015), religious and/or spiritual values (Cole-Lewis et al., 2016; Gearing & Lizardi, 2008), and optimism (Hirsch et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2013).

Although these protective factors have been identified as having a positive buffering effect on suicidal behaviors, researchers continue to call for integrative research that addresses multiple protective factors (Beautrais et al., 2005). Understanding suicidal phenomena in the general public has grown exponentially; however, there have been growing shifts to better understand suicidality among marginalized populations. It is

imperative to understand protective factors for those who are most at risk to better focus prevention efforts.

# **Minority Stress Model**

A central theory of understanding potential contributions for the mental health disparities amongst underrepresented individuals is through Meyer's minority stress model (1995, 2003, 2015). Meyer highlighted that social stress builds on basic stress theory to include social environments and not just personal events that lead to mental and physical concerns (Meyer, 2003). Meyer elaborates on the concept of unique societal stressors minority individuals' experience and results in stigmatization (Meyer, 2003). Meyer (2015) clarifies that his original minority stress model was developed in the context of sexual orientation; however, the model also reflects gender identity.

Another significant component of Meyer's (2003, 2015) minority stress model is the inclusion of "sources of strength", such as social support and coping to ameliorate the negative outcomes of stress. This concept may otherwise be known as protective factors that can buffer the effects of the stressors (Meyer, 2015). Identifying and measuring diverse protective factors has become a principle undertaking in the rhetoric of suicide prevention literature (Cha & Nock, 2008; Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006). Protective factors can be internal and/or external aspects of defending against and buffering suicidal behavior that can lower the risk of suicidality (Meyer, 2015; Cogan et al., 2020). Thus, the minority stress model (Meyer, 2003) is an important explanatory mechanism to understand the unique stress factors and protective factors for individuals from marginalized groups.

The impact of these minority stressors is hypothesized to be lessened by individual resilience and protective factors, such as personal qualities and characteristics, in addition to community resilience, such as affirmation and accepting social networks and supports (Meyer, 2003; 2015). Although a minority status may come with minority stressors, it also has the opportunity to bring a sense of belongingness with others with shared minoritized identities which may result in validation and a more positive self-evaluation (Meyer, 2003; Schmitt et al., 2006).

# **Socioecological Model of Protective Factors**

Bronfenbrenner's (1979) socioecological model provides an additional, and useful framework to conceptualize protective factors. Bronfenbrenner addresses protective factors within different levels: individual, relationship, community, and societal levels. The individual level may consist of factors such as personality, beliefs, etc. The relationship level (microsystem) involves external relationships such as with partners, family, peers, etc. The community level (mesosystem) consists of large networks such as schools, social organizations, similar identity-based communities, etc. Lastly, the societal level (macrosystem) includes protective factors within culture, religion, laws, etc.

Bronfenbrenner's socioecological model has typically been used within public health settings to understand protective factors among subgroups, such as those with marginalized sexuality (Armstrong et al., 2016). The socioecological model highlights the importance of each level and how they collectively impact one's well-being and health (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Johns et al., 2019). This model can serve to help identify missing factors between levels to help direct future studies to improve interventions to address health concerns (Johns et al., 2019). Bronfenbrenner's model extends into the

exosystems and macrosystems, which are often factors outside of the individuals' control, as well as larger, more abstract levels such as legal, political, and attitudes and norms within a culture.

# Suicide Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Communities

Although suicide is a health concern for the general public, there are even higher rates for individuals who experience oppression thus resulting in disproportionate rates of suicidality. A majority of underrepresented and underserved populations are some of the highest-risk groups for suicide (Almeida et al., 2009; Hottes et al., 2016). Although sexuality differs from gender identity, it can be informative to review previous literature on LGB mental health and suicidality. Lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) individuals and transgender communities often experience comparable forms of systemic and individual oppression which can result in similar stressors (Nagoshi et al., 2008). Previous literature has recorded rates of attempted suicides for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer (LGBTQ+) youth anywhere from 14% to 42% (Almeida et al., 2009; McBee-Strayer & Rogers, 2002; Walls et al., 2008). Similar to general public patterns of suicidality, LGB populations report higher rates of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts.

# **Suicide Among TNB Communities**

It is first important to define and understand the differences for some of the following terminology used throughout the literature review. It is imperative to distinguish that sexual orientation and gender identity are unique and different identity constructs that yield different experiences. Lesbian, gay, bisexual (LGB) refers to sexual orientation and the "T" stands for transgender which is referring to gender identity (Brill

& Pepper, 2008; Johnson, et al., 2013; Renn, 2007). Gender identity is one's internal sense of gender (Twist & de Graaf, 2019).

The term transgender can represent a number of gender identities and expressions (James et al., 2016). Transgender can also be considered an umbrella term for people whose gender identity, expression, or behavior is incongruent with their sex assigned at birth (Brill & Pepper, 2008; Lambda Legal, 2008; Lev, 2004, Renn, 2007). Transgender and nonbinary individuals can consist of a range of sexual orientations as some TNB individuals may simultaneously have marginalized gender identities as well as marginalized sexual identities, which can range in intersectional minority experiences and stressors.

Nonbinary can be considered a more common single term for individuals who identify outside of the gender binary (i.e., male, female). Other identities that exist within the nonbinary umbrella include gender queer, gender fluid, pangender, androgynous, agender; however, this is not an exhausted list (Richards et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2011). However, it is paramount to remember that in an emerging field of gender identity, gender identities often change, and one should continue to attend and use an individual's self-declared identity when undertaking clinical work and research.

Specifically, for TNB individuals, research has indicated suicide rates that range from 18% to 47% (Clements-Noelle et al., 2006; Grant et al., 2010; Maguen & Shipherd, 2010; Moody & Smith, 2013). In comparison, the general public has a suicide attempt rate of approximately 4.6 % (Maguen & Shipherd, 2010). The severe disparity indicates that further investigation is needed to better understand complex factors that would potentially relate to lower rates of suicidality for TNB individuals.

# **Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts Among TNB Communities**

Scarce literature exists understanding the phenomenon of moving from suicidal ideation to suicidal attempts in the general public, but there is even less information regarding TNB individuals. The Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) included a pilot item assessing transgender identity in 2017 and found that 44% of transgender participants reported seriously considering attempting suicide and 34% reported a suicide attempt (Johns et al., 2019). However, as this trend continues to be understood, there have been growing theories that posit potential reasons for the disproportionate rates of suicidal ideation and suicidal attempts.

# **Meyer's Minority Stress Model for TNB Communities**

Meyer's (1995, 2003, 2015) minority stress model was foundational in understanding the different types of unique stressors that impact marginalized LGB individuals, resulting in disparate mental health differences. Meyer has also clarified that the minority stress model although originally created in the context of sexual orientation, also applies to gender identity (Meyer, 2015). As previously mentioned, a significant portion of the minority stress model emphasizes the role of resilience and protective factors, such as internal factors, individual coping, and social supports to buffer the effects of the stressors to reduce negative health outcomes (Meyer, 2015).

Thus, the impact of these minority stressors is hypothesized to be lessened by individual resilience, i.e., personal qualities and personality characteristics and community resilience, i.e., affirming/accepting social environments and social support (Meyer, 2003, 2015). Meyer (2015) further explains that one's gender identity has an impact on exposure, not only to minority stress, but also exposure to coping and

resilience opportunities, such as relationships within communities with minoritized gender identities. This group affiliation and sense of belonging allows minoritized individuals to evaluate themselves more in relation to individuals similar to them as opposed to members of dominant groups, thus bringing about validation and a more positive self-evaluation (Meyer, 2003; Schmitt et al., 2006).

# **Gender Minority Stress and Resilience Model (GMSR)**

Most recently, Meyer's model was adapted to create the gender minority stress theory (GMSR; Testa et al., 2015), which looks at unique stressors, both distal and proximal, as well as protective factors for TNB individuals (Hendricks & Testa, 2012; Testa et al., 2015). Some of the distal stressors are similar to Meyer's model, such as experiencing discrimination, rejection, and victimization, but based on gender identity. However, the GMSR highlights TNB individuals' specific distal stressors, such as non-affirmation of gender-identity. GMSR also discusses proximal stressors, such as internalized 'transphobia' and negative expectations regarding gender identity and concealing authentic gender-identity. Similar to Meyer's minority stress model, GMSR includes protective factors including community connectedness, referring to the feeling of cohesion within TNB individuals marginalized gender community (Testa et al., 2015). The other protective factor presented in the GMSR is pride, referring to the feeling of acceptance and comfort with one's authentic gender-identity (Testa et al., 2015).

Previous research on the GMSR has demonstrated that the distal stressor of gender-based victimization is associated with increased risk for suicide, such that those who have experienced gender non-affirmation, such as denied access to bathrooms that align with their gender, are approximately 1.5 times more likely to attempt suicide than

TNB individuals who have not experienced gender non-affirmation (Seelman, 2016). Similar to trends in general suicidology research, the distal and proximal stressors in the GMSR are frequently studied while the protective factors in the GMSR have little to no research (Cogan et al., 2020). Therefore, continued research is needed to specifically understand the roles of the proposed proactive factors, community connectedness and pride, in relation to other protective factors and to suicidality at large.

# **Protective Factors Among TNB Populations**

There is scarce research; however, a growing area of research is addressing protective factors for the TNB community. Although protective factors and resilience are important components of the minority stress model, little work has focused on factors that might serve to reduce the risk for poor mental health and suicide (Eisenberg et al., 2017; Johns et al., 2018). Some the identified protective factors are, but not limited to, feelings of acceptance, feeling valued, transitioning and/or hormone treatments, surgeries, family connectedness, acceptance of transgender identities, and friendships with other LGBTQ+ peers (Crosby et al., 2016; Bauer et al., 2015; Kozee et al., 2012; Moody, et al., 2015; Testa et al., 2015). However, there is growing evidence to support the claim that transgender individuals' have salient protective factors (Moody, et al., 2015; Testa, et al., 2015) against suicidality.

Preliminary research has been beneficial in identifying a number of protective factors against suicidality for TNB individuals. Given that previous research has demonstrated optimism (e.g., Moody & Smith, 2013), affirmation and transitioning (Budge et al., 2015; Crosby et al., 2016; Glynn et al., 2016; Moody et al., 2015; Scheim et al., 2020; Vaitses Fontanari et al., 2020) pride (Cogan et al., 2020; Meyer, 2003; Singh

et al., 2011; Testa et al., 2015), TNB community connection (Barr et al., 2016; Meyer, 2003; Pflum et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2018; Testa et al., 2015), body congruence (Kozee et al., 2012), social support (McConnell et al., 2016; Mood & Smith, 2013; Pflum et al., 2015; Trujillo et al., 2017), serve as potential protective factors, these aspects are hypothesized to buffer suicidality for TNB individuals. However, a gap exists, such that few studies have addressed these multiple protective factors uniquely for TNB communities.

### Individual Level Protective Factor

Optimism. As previously stated, optimism has been a central protective factor for both cis and TNB individuals. However, in past research results yield mixed findings in assessing the role of optimism and suicidality, such that some studies have identified a significantly negative relationship between optimism and suicidality (Hirsch et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2013) whereas others did not find a significant relationship between optimism and suicidality (Moody & Smith, 2013). The mixed empirical results suggest that optimism needs further analysis in TNB populations to better understand optimism as a protective factor.

Optimism continues to appear in suicidology literature, especially within LGBTQ+ populations as it is one of three protective factors in Rutter's (2008) model and suggests that individuals have favorable expectations for their future. Additionally, optimism is important to continue to evaluate among TNB populations as it is also an important factor in helping TNB individuals overcome adversities (Bry et al., 2017) and found to be a protective factor against suicidality (Moody & Smith, 2013; Moody et al., 2015).

**Pride.** Meyer (2003) initially suggests that a sense of pride in sexual orientation may serve as a protective factor against minority stress experienced by LGB individuals. As Meyer's minority stress model was applied by Testa et al. (2015) for TNB individuals, pride was included and found to be a protective factor. Overall, viewing one's gender identity in a positive manner is encompassed under the concept of pride (Testa et al., 2015) and there are multiple studies that have suggested that pride is conversely related to poor mental health outcomes (Bockting et al., 2013; Singh, 2013). Additionally, Brennan and colleagues (2017) found for TNB participants that their sense of pride was a negative predictor of suicide attempts. However, further exploration is needed to better understand how pride relates to suicidality and its relationship with other protective factors.

Body Congruence. An understudied, but important protective factor is the role of body congruence for TNB individuals within their TNB identity development (Kozee et al., 2012). Moody and colleagues (2015) also identified the importance of participants "becoming one's self, the person they were meant to be, and living authentically." Transfeminism, a movement born out of the intersectionality of being a transgender woman, posits that TNB individuals create their own identities based on authentic feelings within their own social environments (Corsani, 2007). Therefore, the feeling of genuine comfort by presenting one's self in an authentic expression has been termed 'congruence' or 'body congruence' (Kozee et al., 2012).

Kozee et al. (2012) created a measure that moved away from a binary understanding of transgender identity development by focusing on the authentic, diverse, and genuine expression of gender identity. Kozee et al. (2012) also found that higher levels of congruence were positively associated with life meaning and satisfaction, as

well as being negatively associated with depression more than life meaning. Kozee and colleagues' findings encourage further study on the role of body congruence among TNB populations in relation to suicidality.

# Relationship Level Protective Factors

Social Support. Social support has been seen as an imperative protective factor, not only for the general public (e.g., Chioqueta & Stiles, 2007; Kleiman & Liu, 2013), but also for LGB individuals (e.g., Rutter, 2008; Watson et al., 2019) and for TNB individuals (McConnell et al., 2016; Moody et al, 2015; Trujillo et al., 2017). There are a growing number of studies that have examined the relationship between social support and suicidal behaviors (e.g., Miller et al., 2015) such that individuals with less social support are at greater risk of suicidality. Perceived emotional and social support from friends, parents, partner and family were significantly negatively associated with suicidal ideation and/or attempts (Kota et al., 2020; Shah et al., 2018; Treharne et al., 2020)

There are existing articles that have found social support from cis social supports, including friends and family, as being an important factor that is associated with higher levels of well-being among TNB individuals (Baser et al., 2016). Additionally, the Canadian trans PULSE Project found in a sample of trans individuals that social support specifically reduced suicide risk (Bauer, 2015).

# Community Level Protective Factor

**TNB Community Connectedness.** Meyer (2003) also originally posited in the minority stress model that being connected and feeling a sense of belonging in a community is an important buffer against negative mental health outcomes and suicidality. There have been multiple studies that have echoed the importance of

connecting to a community with similar marginalized identities, especially for TNB individuals (Pflum et al., 2015; Singh, 2013; Singh et al., 2011). Too often LGBTQ+ individuals experience estrangement from their families due to their sexual orientation and/or their gender identity and will often seek support through members of their community (Bariola et al., 2015; Barr et al., 2016). This may be a more salient experience for TNB individuals to find a sense of belonging and connection as TNB individuals report feeling more alienated from mainstream culture (Singh et al., 2011).

Barr et al. (2016) was a foundational study that sought to understand TNB community connectedness by assessing the sense of belonging TNB individuals experienced in the TNB community. Barr et al.'s (2016) study found that community connectedness fully mediated a relationship between the strength of transgender identity and well-being. Therefore, a connection to the TNB community can serve as a protective factor and may suggest the type of connection could impact suicidal risk.

### Societal Level Protective Factor

Affirmation and Transitioning. Although transitioning and affirmation literature is in its infancy, there are gender identity-related protective factors that appear to be important for TNB individuals. Gender affirmation is an interpersonal process, such that a TNB individual experiences social support and recognition for their gender identity and expression (Bockting, 2008; Nuttbrock et al., 2009). Gender affirmation has also been acknowledged in previous literature under different terminologies; 'gender construction' (Rodriguez-Madera and Toro-Alfonso 2005), 'transgender identity affirmation' (Nuttbrock et al., 2002), 'gender validation' (Nemoto et al., 2004).

However, it is important to note that gender affirmation is a multidimensional process that includes social affirmations, medical affirmations, and legal affirmation, and not all TNB people indicate that they want to physically and/or medically transition. Yet, for those who do desire to engage in medical transition treatments (i.e., hormones, surgeries), they report better mental health outcomes (de Vries et al., 2014; Moody et al., 2015; Olson-Kennedy & Warus, 2017). Vaitses et al. (2020) found for those who had access to medical affirmative interventions reported less anxiety and depressive symptoms. Previous research has also acknowledged individuals experiencing gender affirmation through correct pronoun use and chosen name use in various settings, including in social settings as well as on legal documents, such as a passport, driver's license, etc. (Russell et al., 2018). Furthermore, identity affirmation through the use of correct legal documentation has been associated with decreases in mental health concerns, specifically for suicidal ideation and attempts (Bauer, et al., 2015; Fontanari et al., 2020).

These protective factors were chosen to be the primary focus for the study due to alignment with three of the levels within Bronfenbrenner's ecological theory as well as internal sources highlighted in the minority stress model. Additionally, the connection-based protective factors were included as it overlapped theoretical support from Bronfenbrenner's model as well as the minority stress model. Lastly, protective factors identified in the GMSR were included due to relevance to the specified target population amongst TNB individuals. Overall, there appears to be a lack of empirical evidence that assess how multiple protective factors impact suicidality in general and even more so among TNB populations.

# **Current Study**

Given the heightened rates of suicide among TNB individuals, addressing possible protective factors of suicide can lead to better understanding elements that lower the risk for suicide among TNB people. Overall, there is a continued lack of literature that addresses the active role of protective factors that buffer the effects of suicidality for the TNB community. The current literature suggests that correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, body congruency, community connectedness, and social support may be protective factors that apply to TNB individuals. Additionally, due to highlighted trans-specific experiences (e.g., transphobia), there may be TNB-specific protective factors such as body congruence, community connectedness, and pride that have scarcely been studied as it relates to suicidality. It is important to identify the roles of protective factors in TNB individuals' suicidality to be able to best reduce the disproportionately high rates of suicidality in the TNB community.

The original proposal sought to understand the complex relationships amongst protective factors among TNB individuals to distinguish those who reported suicidal ideation from those who went on to attempt suicide. However, due to necessary changes due to low data response, as will be discussed, the current project was conducted to contribute additional information using a multi-theoretical understanding (i.e., minority stress model, socioecological, GSRM) to understand complex levels of potential protective factors that would lower the odds of experiencing suicidal ideation amongst TNB individuals.

The originally proposed research questions were as follows:

- 1. Will there be significant differences in predictive protective factors that distinguish TNB individuals with suicidal ideation from those who attempt suicide?
  - a. *Hypothesis*: There will be a significant difference for TNB individuals who only endorse suicidal ideation than those who go on to attempt suicide.
- 2. Will the proposed structural equation model (Figure 1) confirm proposed theory that optimism, body congruence, pride, community connectedness, and social support from friends and family (collectively) predict suicidal ideation versus suicide attempts for TNB people?
  - a. *Hypothesis*: The proposed SEM will yield sufficient goodness-of-fit indices such that I will fail to reject the proposed theoretical model, indicating that the proposed model is a statistically significant predictor of suicide behaviors and ideations in a TNB sample.

However, due to the changes needed to adequately respond to the gathered sample size, the new hypothesis consists as following:

- 1. Will there be significant protective factors, from various levels of the socioecological model, minority stress model, and GSMR, that will be associated with a lower likelihood of suicidal ideation?
- a. *Hypothesis:* As correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, body congruency, community connectedness, and social support

increase, there will be a significantly less likelihood that participants will report experiencing suicidal ideation

### **CHAPTER III**

### **METHODOLOGY**

# **Participants**

Inclusion criteria for participants consisted of individuals who self-identify as transgender and/or nonbinary as well as being at least 18 years old. Efforts were in place to protect the participants' confidentiality, such as not requesting any personally identifying information, including IP addresses.

Sample Characteristics. The study recruited participants over the age of 18 who self-identified as transgender and/or nonbinary (N = 95). Convenience sampling and snowball methods were utilized for online platforms, such as various social media sites and networking platforms (i.e., Facebook, Instagram, Reddit, and Listservs). Participants' age ranged from 18 to 64 (M = 31.96, SD = 11.15). Participants were able to select multiple responses that represented their sexuality, religion, and race. Percentages are not listed for gender, sexuality, and religion as they total more than 100% due to participants being able to choose multiple responses that capture their identities (see Table 1, Table 2). For example, 45 participants identified as transgender, 30 participants identified as a transman, 17 participants identified as a transwoman, 36 participants identified as

participants identified as lesbian, 7 identified as gay, 29 identified as bisexual, 34 identified as queer, and 27 identified as pansexual.

The sample was comprised of mostly White participants (n = 83, 87.4%), 1.1% Native/First Nation (n = 1), 1.1% Asian/Pacific Islander (n = 1), 5.3% biracial/multiracial (n = 5), 1.1% Black (n = 1), 3.2% Hispanic/Latinx (n = 3), and 1.1% Other (n = 1). Regarding religious identity, 16 participants identified as Agnostic, 13 identified as Christian, 45 reported not having a religion, and 22 reported "Other" and wrote in examples of Atheist and Pagan/Wiccan.

Regarding household annual income, 24.2% of participants reported earning \$0-\$20,000 annually (n = 23), 41.1% reported earning \$20,001-\$55,000 (n = 39), 22.1% reported earning \$55,001-\$100,00 (n = 21), 12.6% reported earning \$100,000 or more (n = 12). For education attainment 9.5% reported receiving a high school diploma/GED (n = 9), 35.8% reported receiving some college (n = 34), 26.8% reported receiving a Bachelor's degree (n = 25), 3.2% reported receiving some graduate training (n = 3), 14.7% reported receiving a Master's degree (n = 14), 2.1% reported receiving a Doctorate/Graduate degree (n = 2). See Table 1 and Table 2 for further information regarding sample characteristics.

### **Procedures**

An a priori power analysis using G\*power (Faul & Erdfelder, 1998) was conducted to determine the appropriate number of participants for the originally proposed study. The power was set to .80 to increase the potential of acquiring significant results (Cohen, 1988) and the alpha level was set to .05. The power analysis suggested that a minimum of 125 subjects would be sufficient to gather statistical power for the proposed

analysis. Because the originally proposed analysis of structural equation modeling (SEM) requires an overall larger sample to obtain adequate power, this minimum sample number was increased. Weston and Gore (2006) suggest at least a minimum sample of 200 when conducting SEM; therefore, the goal sample was at least 200 participants.

Data was collected from August 2021 until May 2022 through various online platforms. However, due to low participant response rate with all original variables collected, the proposed pathways could not be appropriately assessed. Due to the low sample size, it would not be advisable to test this theory via SEM (Boomsma & Hoogland, 2001; Byrne, 2008). Therefore, a logistic regression was proposed as a sufficient and more appropriate analysis in relation to the response rate. Thus, an additional a priori power analysis was conducted to determine the sample size of participants needed, resulting in a recommendation of 107 participants. Participants completed an IRB-approved online survey that included the measures described below. A total of 208 people began the survey; participants were removed due to not completing at least 80% of a given measure (n = 53) and not meeting the first validity check (n = 57) or the second validity check (n = 3). A final sample of 95 remained.

Approval for this research study was gained through the doctoral committee and Oklahoma State University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Modifications were made based on feedback from the committee and IRB. Counsel was continuously sought from the doctoral committee during the research process for necessary and responsive alterations.

The study was conducted through the online survey service, Qualtrics. The questionnaire contained an informed consent document that describes general aims of the

study, minor risks and benefits of the study, a reminder of voluntary participation and leaving at any point of the survey, and resources for participants. The questionnaire also included demographic information as well as additional measured variables.

Randomization was used as a technique to minimize order bias; thus, participants received the independent variables and dependent variable questions in a random order. The typical time of completion was approximately 20 – 30 minutes. At the end of the survey all participants were presented with a page thanking them for their participation and explaining that as a token of appreciation for their participation, the participants could follow an additional link where they could submit their emails to be entered into a drawing for one of five \$50 Visa gift cards. The separate link was to ensure participant anonymity, such that reported information would not be connected to their provided email for the gift card drawing. At the end of data collection, five participants who submitted their emails were randomly selected and sent a \$50 Visa gift card.

### Design

The present study utilized a correlational, cross-sectional design. The independent variables in the model consisted of correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, community connectedness, body congruence, perceived social support from friends, and perceived social support from family. With the outcome variable consisting of suicidal ideation with a binary response of yes and no.

# **Measures (See Appendix D)**

**Demographic Information.** A questionnaire asked participants demographic questions such as gender identity, sexual orientation, race/ethnicity, partnership status, age, highest level of education, current employment, household income, and religious

affiliation. As transgender identity encompasses multiple identities, there were 14 listed identities with an additional option for participants to write in their identity; participants could choose multiple options that represent their gender identity. Additionally, participants were able to select multiple responses that represented their sexuality, religion, and race.

**Dependent Variable.** Suicide risk, including suicidal ideation and suicide attempts, will be assessed by asking participants *Yes/No* formatted questions "Have you ever seriously thought about killing yourself?" and "How many times have you attempted to kill yourself?" which was converted into a binary response by any number of attempts marked as a "1" and zero attempts marked as a "0" as used in previous empirical studies (Johns et al., 2019; Scheim et al., 2020).

Legal Pronoun and Name Use. Participants were asked "what pronouns do you like to use for yourself?" followed by asking if their "legal records reflect your identity?" Similarly, participants were asked if "you have a chosen name different from the name you were given at birth?" followed by asking if their "legal records reflect your chosen name?" This research method was used in previous literature (i.e., Russell et al., 2018).

**Optimism.** The Life Orientation Test Revised (LOT-R; Scheier et al., 1994) was used to measure optimism. The LOT-R is comprised of 10 self-reported items, consisting of 3 positively worded statements, 3 negatively worded statements, and 4 filler statements. The LOT-R assesses participant's generalized level of optimism using a 5-point Likert-type scale that ranges from 0 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 4 (*Strongly Agree*). Some example statements include "In uncertain times, I usually expect the best", "Overall, I expect more good things to happen to me than bad", and some reverse scored

items including "If something can go wrong for me, it will". The total score is obtained by the 6 primary items together. Summary scores range from 0 to 24 and higher scores indicate higher levels of generalized optimism.

The LOT-R has been distinguished from state optimism (Burke et al., 2000) and general happiness (Lyubomirsky & Lepper, 1999). The LOT-R has also demonstrated acceptable reliability with stable test-retest reliability across 4 months (r = .68), 12 months (r = .60), 24 months (r = .56), and 24 months (r = .79; Scheier et al., 1994). Coefficient alpha in the original study was .78 (Scheier et al., 1994). Internal consistency has been found in additional research with an alpha of .79 (Hirsch et al., 2007).

Pride. The Gender Minority Stress and Resilience Measure by Testa et al. (2015) was created to measure difficulties and protective factors for those whose gender identity is underrepresented. The GMSRM was developed from Meyer's (2003) minority stress model to include TNB individuals. The GMRSM has nine subscales to measure different constructs, with seven assessing TNB stressors: Gender-Related Discrimination, Gender-Related Rejection, Gender-Related Victimization, Nonaffirmation of Gender Identity, Internalized Transphobia, Negative Expectations for Future Events, and Nondisclosure. The other two subscales assess the protective factors for TNB individuals: Pride and Community Connectedness.

The subscale for Pride is comprised of eight self-reported items measured on a 5-point Likert-type scale from 0 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 4 (*Strongly Agree*). The potential total score range is 0 to 32, with higher scores indicating higher levels of pride in TNB identity. Example statements consist of "my gender identity or expression makes me feel

special and unique", "I am proud to be a person whose gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth".

The Pride subscale was found to be negatively associated with depression, anxiety, life stress, and perceived burdensomeness (Pflum et al., 2015; Shulman et al., 2017). The Pride subscale had an established coefficient alpha of .88 (Testa et al., 2015). The individual subscale resulted in good criterion validity, convergent validity, and discriminant validity (Testa et al., 2015).

Community Connectedness. The GMSRM has an additional subscale of Community Connectedness with a total of five self-report items measured on a 5-point Likert-type scale that ranges from 0 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 4 (*Strongly Agree*). The potential total score range is 0 to 20, with higher scores suggesting greater feelings of connectedness to the transgender community. Some example statements are "I feel part of a community of people who share my gender identity", "I feel connected to other people who share my gender identity", and "When interacting with members of the community that shares my gender identity, I feel like I belong". The Community Connectedness subscale has a reported coefficient alpha of .90 (Testa et al., 2015). The individual scale resulted in good criterion validity, convergent validity, and discriminant validity (Testa et al., 2015).

**Body Congruence.** Body congruence was measured with the Transgender Congruency Scale (TCS; Kozee et al., 2012). The TCS was developed to measure the level of congruence between gender identity and current gender expression. The TCS consists of 12 self-report items on a 5-point Likert-type scale that ranges from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 5 (*Strongly Agree*). The TCS is comprised of two constructs: Appearance

Congruence and Gender Identity Acceptance. Appearance Congruence measures if the participant's physical appearance aligns with their wanted gender expression. Gender Identity acceptance measures the participant's acceptance of their gender expression and identity. The TCS can be assessed by using the two subscales individually or a total score can be used to assess overall body congruence with high scores indicating higher body congruence. Examples of statements for the Appearance Congruence scale is "my outward appearance represent my gender identity" and "I experience a sense of unity between my gender identity and my body" Examples of statements for the Gender Identity Acceptance scale is "I am happy that I have the gender identity that I do" and "I have accepted my gender identity".

The coefficient alpha for the total TCS has been demonstrated to be .92 (Kozee et al., 2012) and in recent research resulted in a coefficient alpha of .96 (Comiskey et al., 2020). The TCS reported good discriminant validity and construct validity (Kozee et al., 2012; McLemore, 2015).

Social Support. Social support was measured with the Perceived Social Support
Scale from Friends + Family (PSS-Fr + PSS-Fa; Procidano & Heller, 1983) which
assesses participants' perceptions and experiences of relationships with friends (PSS-Fr)
and family members (PSS-Fa) meeting their needs. The measurement contains two
separate 20-item self-report subscales. The items are measured on a yes/no scale that
range from 0 (no) to 1 (yes) and an option of (I don't know) is left un-scored. Example
statements include "I rely on my friends for emotional support" and "My friends and I are
very open about what we think about things" (PSS-Fr), and "There is a member of my
family I could go to if I were just feeling down, without feeling funny about it later" and

"I have a deep sharing relationship with a number of members of my family" (PSS-Fa). The participant's responses are totaled with a value range of 0 - 20 for each scale with higher scores suggesting greater levels of perceived social support.

Internal consistency scores from past research resulted in moderate internal consistency scores of .85 for PSS-Fr and .87 for PSS-FA in Liu's study (2002). The coefficient alpha was found to be .88 for the PSS-Fr, and .90 for the PSS-Fa scale in the original study (Procidano & Heller, 1983).

# **Data Analysis**

To evaluate the newly proposed hypothesis, a logistic regression was used to analyze significant contributing variables for participants who have experienced suicidal ideation. Preliminary analyses were conducted and are discussed. The independent variables include correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, community connectedness, body congruence, and social support. The dependent variable is suicidal ideation with a binary response of "yes" or "no". Follow up descriptive analyses were conducted to assess percentage of participants that also experienced.

### **CHAPTER IV**

### **RESULTS**

Before testing the proposed logistic regression, data were cleaned, missing data were addressed, and the assumptions for a logistic regression were assessed. Participants who did not pass the two validity checks and complete at least 80% of a given measure were eliminated. Little's Missing Completely at Random (MCAR) test was then conducted to determine whether the remaining missing data were missing completely at random. The results of Little's MCAR determined that the missing data were not significant, suggesting that missing data were missing completely at random. The following are the number of missing data points that were replaced from each measured item for the final sample: there were no missing data points for suicidal ideation, no missing data for use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, no missing data for optimism, no missing data for body congruence, four missing data points for pride, one missing data point for community connectedness, 104 missing data for perceived friend support, and 96 missing data for perceived family support.

Tabachnick and Fidell (2013) suggest retaining the cases with missing data and performing a data replacement method; expectation maximization method was used to replace missing data. According to Tabachnick and Fiddell (2013), this method is

superior to other data replacement techniques (e.g., mean replacement) and is more efficient than other more complex techniques (e.g., multiple imputation).

# **Assessing Assumptions**

Prior to testing our model, preliminary exploratory analyses were conducted to determine whether data met the assumptions of logistic regression (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). These assumptions include independence of errors, absence of multicollinearity, linearity in the logit, and absence of outliers or influential data points in the data. Results indicated that the assumptions of independence of errors was met. The multicollinearity assumption was assessed by examining the variance inflation factor (VIF). All VIF values were less than four (i.e., the largest variance inflation factor was 1.42), indicating that the assumption was met (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Additionally, the linearity in the logit assumption was also met (i.e. none of the interaction terms that were created by taking the product of each continuous independent variable and its natural logarithm were significantly related to suicide ideation).

To determine whether there were any potential outliers or influential data points in the data, the standardized residuals, Cook's distance, DfBeta, and leverage values were examined. Results indicated that there were five multivariate outliers or influential cases in the data. However, because the model excluding outliers and influential cases did not have a better classification accuracy rate by 2% than the baseline model, the five cases were included in final analysis (Field, 2017).

## **Primary Analysis**

For descriptive summary, of the total sample of 95 participants, 11 participants (11.58%) reported no suicidal ideation and no suicide attempts. 31 participants (32.63%)

reported suicidal ideation but no suicide attempts, and 53 participants (55.79%) reported experiencing suicidal ideation as well as at least one suicidal attempt.

After data cleaning, replacement, internal consistency, assumptions, and best analysis procedures were determined, a binary logistic regression analysis was conducted to determine whether participant's correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, body congruence, sense of pride, community connectedness, perceived social support from friends and family is associated to lower levels of suicidal ideation. Preliminary analyses indicated that, of the 95 participants who comprised the final sample of this study, 11 participants (11.6%) endorsed not experiencing suicidal ideation, whereas 84 participants (88.4%) did report experiencing suicidal ideation. The dependent variable, suicidal ideation, assessed whether participants ever seriously thought about killing themselves, coded as 0 = no, 1 = yes. See Table 3 and Table 4 for descriptive statistics and correlations of the study's variables.

The examination of the first block of the equation indicated that the model correctly classified 98.8% of the participants who thought about suicide and 18.2% of the participants who did not think about suicide. Thus, indicating the model better predicted those who thought about suicide than predicting those that did not think about suicide. The overall classification accuracy rate was 89.1%. The omnibus test of the model coefficients indicated that independent variables, as a whole, were significantly related to suicide ideation,  $\chi^2$  (8, N = 95) = 17.45, p = .026). Additionally, the Hosmer and Lemeshow test was not significant indicating a good model fit,  $\chi^2$  (8, N = 95) = 4.948, p = .763. There are a number of pseudo- $R^2$  values that have been proposed using this general logic, including the Cox and Snell (Cox & Snell, 1989; Maddala, 1983; Nagelkerke,

1991). At this point, there does not seem to be much agreement on which R-square approach is best (Menard, 2000). Thus, the reported  $R^2$  values are Cox and Snell  $R^2$  = .173, and Nagelkerke  $R^2$  = .333. Table 5 presents unstandardized binary logistic regression coefficients, Wald statistics, and odds ratios (OR) along with 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

The examination of the odds ratios indicated that, after controlling for correct use of pronouns on legal documents, optimism, body congruence, sense of pride, perceived social support from friends and family, higher levels of correct use of chosen name on legal documents (OR = .100, p = .046, 95% CI [.010, .962]) and community connectedness (OR = .791, p = .047, 95% CI [.627, .997]) were associated with decreased probability of experiencing suicidal ideation. Specifically, for every unit increase in correct use of chosen name on legal documents, there was a 90% reduction in the probability of experiencing suicidal ideation. Additionally for every unit increase in community connection, there was a 20.9% reduction in the probability of experiencing suicidal ideation. It appears correct use of pronouns on legal documents, optimism, body congruence, sense of pride, perceived social support from friends and family variables were not significantly associated suicidal ideation.

Due to the low sample size of participants who reported suicidal attempts, there was not sufficient statistical power to analyze all of the included independent variables, as well as to assess for group differences between participants who experienced suicidal ideation versus those who also experienced a suicidal attempt.

### CHAPTER V

### **DISCUSSION**

Previous research has found that TNB individuals continue to experience high rates of suicidal ideation, as one study with approximately 40,000 participants found 82% of their sample seriously considering killing themselves in their lifetime (James et al., 2016). This demonstrates the necessity of better understanding various protective factors that lower the likelihood of suicidal ideation. The purpose of this study was to contribute to existing literature by using multiple theories to assess the relationships of multiple protective factors for TNB individuals with suicidal ideation through a quantitative methodology. The present study aimed to extend previous findings by assessing several protective variables that aligned with the socioecological levels, as well as the minority stress model, and GMSR. The adjusted and final hypothesis for the study consisted of; as correct use of pronouns and chosen name on legal documents, optimism, pride, body congruency, community connectedness, and social support increase, there will be a significantly less likelihood that participants will report experiencing suicidal ideation.

## **Analysis**

The originally proposed SEM was not an appropriate approach due to low response rate. Thus, a logistic regression was conducted to analyze the data with a primary focus on assessing suicidal ideation as a dependent variable.

## **Discussion of the Present Study's Findings**

The hypothesis was partially supported as not all increased variables were associated with a lower likelihood that participants reported suicidal ideation. Although previous research has suggested that all the hypothesized protective factors had a negative relationship with suicidal ideation, the current findings did not support that correct use of pronouns on legal documents, optimism, pride, body congruence, and perceived social support from friends and family significantly related to a lower likelihood of suicidal ideation. This may be in part to the relatively lower sample size impacting overall power of the sample. Furthermore, the overall model was significant perhaps implying that, as a collective, the collective protective factors contributed overall significance, but individually were not significant. Specifically in relation to perceived social support from family, the results were not significantly related to a lower likelihood of suicidal ideation. This may reflect that LGBTQ+ adults will often discuss and report importance of chosen family support rather than original family support (Frost et al., 2016) as well as developing greater resilience when engaging in more frequent contact with LGBTQ+ peers (Bariola et al., 2015).

However, there was a significant finding for two variables: community connectedness with the TNB community as well as correct use of chosen name on legal documents. The results of the study found that the correct use of chosen name on legal

documents and community connectedness with the TNB community were associated with a decrease in the likelihood that participants reported experiencing suicidal ideation. The findings support previous research for both community connectedness with the TNB community and correct use of one's chosen name impacting suicidal ideation.

The finding of significance for community connectedness with the TNB community reducing the likelihood of reported suicidal ideation supports all three theories utilized to comprise the model's variables. Bronfenbrenner's socioecological community level posited the importance of having strong social connections to mitigate negative health outcomes. Although there are multiple, complex relationships that can be captured by Bronfenbrenner's community level, the results of the study indicate unique affiliation and support from others with shared TNB identities are related to a lower likelihood of suicidal ideation. Furthermore, this finding also supports the minority stress model's emphasis on social support (Meyer, 2003; 2015). The minority stress model proposes that social support and affiliation with other minoritized group members is related to lower negative health outcomes (e.g. suicidal ideation). Lastly, the GMSR specifically highlights the importance of community connectedness as a means to counterpoint stressors through social-level coping, fostering connections with other TNB people, and normalizing emotional reactions related to TNB identity development (Pflum et al., 2015).

The finding of significance for the correct use of chosen name on legal documents reducing the likelihood of reported suicidal ideation also appears to support Bronfenbrenner's socioecological societal level, such that systemic forces can have positive and protective impacts on mental health outcomes for TNB communities. There

are many reasons why TNB individuals may choose a different name for themselves, perhaps due to validation, avoidance of stigma, or gender assumptions based on names; however, the results imply the importance of validating an individual's chosen name, particularly on legal documentation.

Previous research has also acknowledged individuals experiencing gender affirmation through various methods such as through correct name use in various settings, including in social settings as well as on legal documents, such as a passport, driver's license, etc. (Russell et al., 2018). The study's results support this previous literature and suggest the importance of accessibility to various forms of gender validation, such as correct name documentation. Research is growing a baseline understanding of the impacts of legal and political actions on the TNB community (i.e., Rabasco & Andover, 2021); these results suggest that affirmation through obtaining legal documents with correct use of chosen names may help to lower the likelihood of negative health outcomes, such as suicidal ideation.

## **Limitations and Implications**

This study consists of several limitations. The most apparent limitation is the low response rate and final sample size. Sample size impacted the originally proposed study and analysis resulted in the necessary and appropriate changes. Overall, the final model is the most complete model that can be presented based on the sample size; therefore, there would not be sufficient power for follow up analyses to assess differences for participants who endorsed suicide attempts. The low sample size and response rate may be due to the use of a convenience sample and traditional difficulties of dissemination to

underrepresented populations. Another limitation was the use of self-report throughout the survey which includes a level of self-report bias.

Lastly, another limitation was the lack of racial and ethnic representation within the collected sample, as most of the participants identified as white. Because white people maintain racial privilege in the United States, the study was not able to capture systemic and interpersonal racial oppression and resilience; therefore, the results best represent various white TNB experiences. Due to the intersectional experiences of oppression TNB people of color daily experience, they may also endorse different protective factors and experience protective factors differently than white TNB individuals.

### **Implications for Research**

The findings from this study also have several implications such as expanding current knowledge by further understanding significant variables for TNB individuals (an under-studied, high-risk group) that experience suicidal ideation. Although TNB populations have some of the highest rates of suicidality, there continues to be limited research understanding protective factors, in general. The findings from the conducted study also continue to build a framework for the originally proposed study to determine potential differences between suicidal ideation and suicide attempts amongst TNB individuals.

## **Implications for Practice**

The findings also have imperative clinical implications for mental health practitioners who engage in suicidal prevention work with TNB individuals. Mental health practitioners can benefit by understanding protective factors and their relationship

with suicidal ideation. The study's results suggest that clinicians could encourage connection with other TNB individuals as it is associated with a lower likelihood of suicidal ideation. Additionally, prevention programs could help create opportunities that enhance social support and connectedness within TNB communities. Furthermore, clinicians can be mindful of proper name documentation to reflect and affirm a TNB client's chosen name which may serve as an empirically supported intervention to promote the wellbeing of TNB individuals.

### **Implications for Policies**

Lastly, results can have important implications for a range of social policies. The study's results on the importance of correct name on legal documents resulted in a significantly lower likelihood of suicidal ideation. However, legal name changes may be unfeasible for many TNB individuals; therefore, other institutions such as workplaces, healthcare providers, schools, etc. could adjust protocols and means of identification to account for chosen names. A change in policies that promote the affirmation of TNB individuals, such as through proper name documentation, will possibly lower mental health disparities among TNB communities.

#### **Future Research**

As there exists a growing interest in protective factors for TNB individuals, the findings of this study offer unique contributions as it is one of the first to analyze several protective factors resulting in significant findings for community connectedness within the TNB community as well as correct use of chosen name on legal documents. There are many opportunities for continued research within the TNB community and understanding suicidality. Future research can expand on collecting sufficient data to examine the same

proposed variables to understand the relationships with suicidal attempts. This would create a stronger foundation for future research to assess the originally proposed topic of creating an SEM to understand the nuanced relationships between variables and determining differences between TNB individuals who have suicidal ideation versus those who continue on to suicidal attempts. Lastly, future research should examine relationships for intersectional identities within the TNB community. For example, a black trans woman's experiences of protective factors may differ from a white trans man's experiences as this would shape and inform culturally competent care and policies to bolster suicidal protective factors and ultimately lower suicidal risk amongst TNB communities.

#### **Conclusion**

Limitations notwithstanding, the current study adds to the knowledge of suicidology specifically addressing concerns within the TNB community using a socioecological, minority stress, and GSMR theoretical understanding of protective factors of suicidal ideation. The current study demonstrates the need to consider the implications of several levels of Bronfenbrenner's' socioecological model as well as the minority stress model to understand several protective factors against health disparities, including suicidal ideation, amongst historically marginalized groups. This study emphasizes the importance of establishing community connections within the TNB community as well as policy importance of using correct names on documentation and legal documents. The low response rate for this study may indicate the difficult nature in accessing and assisting hard-to-reach populations, such as the TNB community; however, it is imperative that organizations and providers seek to provide care and opportunities

that validate TNB individuals' identity and strengthen inter-community support to lower the likelihood of suicidal ideation.

### **REFERENCES**

- Almeida, J., Johnson, R. M., Corliss, H. L., Molnar, B. E., & Azrael, D. (2009).
  Emotional distress among LGBT youth: The influence of perceived discrimination based on sexual orientation. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 38, 1001-1014. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9397-9
- Armstrong H. L., Steiner R. J., Jayne P. E., Beltran O. (2016). Individual-level protective factors for sexual health outcomes among sexual minority youth: A systematic review of the literature. *Sexual Health*, *13*, 311–327. https://doi.org/10.1071/SH15200.
- Asakura, K., & Craig, S. L. (2014). "It gets better"...but how? Exploring resilience development in the accounts of LGBTQ adults. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 24, 253-266. doi:10.1080/10911359.2013.808971
- Baams, L., Grossman, A. H., & Russell, S. T. (2015). Minority stress and mechanisms of risk for depression and suicidal ideation among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth.

  \*Developmental Psychology, 51(5), 688-696. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0038994

- Bariola, E., Lyons, A., Leonard, W., Pitts, M., Badcock, P., Couch, M. (2015).

  Demographic and psychosocial factors associated with psychological distress and resilience among transgender individuals. *American Journal of Public Health*105(10), 2108–116. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2015.302763
- Barr, S. M., Budge, S. L., & Adelson, J. L. (2016). Transgender community belongingness as a mediator between strength of transgender identity and well-being. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(1), 87 97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/cou0000127
- Baser, K., Oz, G., & Karakaya, J. (2016). Perceived discrimination, social support, and quality of life in gender dysphoria. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *13*(7), 1133–1141. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2016.04.071
- Bauer, G. R., Scheim, A. I., Pyne, J., Travers, R., & Hammond, R. (2015). Intervenable factors associated with suicide risk in transgender persons: A respondent driven sampling study in Ontario, Canada. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(525), 1 15. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1867-2
- Fonntanari, A. M. V., Vilanova, F., Schneider, M. A., Chinazzo, I., Soll, B. M., Schwarz, K., Lobato, M. I. R., & Costa, A. B. (2020). Gender affirmation is associated with transgender and gender nonbinary youth mental health improvement. *LGBT Health*, 7(5). doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2019.0046
- Beautrais, A., Collings, S. C. D., Ehrhardt, P., & Henare, K. (2005) Suicide Prevention: a

  Review of Evidence of Risk and Protective Factors, and Points of Effective

  Intervention. Wellington

- Bockting, W. (2008). Transgender identity and HIV: Resilience in the face of stigma. Focus: A Guide to AIDS Research and Counseling, 23(2), 1–4.
- Bockting, W. O., Miner, M. H., Swinburne Romine, R. E., Hamilton, A., & Coleman, E. (2013). Stigma, mental health, and resilience in an online sample of the US transgender population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103, 943–951. doi:10.2105/ajph.2013.301241
- Boomsma, A., & Hoogland, J.J. (2001). The robustness of LISREL modeling revisited. In R. Cudeck, S. du Toit, & D. Sörbom (Eds.): *Structural equation modeling: A festschrift in honor of Karl Jöreskög*. Lincolnwood, IL: Scientific Software.
- Borges, G., Angst, J., Nock, M. K., Ruscio, A. M., & Kessler, R. C. (2008). Risk factors for the incidence and persistence of suicide-related outcomes: A 10-year follow-up study using the National Comorbidity Surveys. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 105(1-3), 25 33. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.01.036
- Brennan, S. L, Irwin, J., Drincic, A., Amoura, N. J., Randall, A., Smith-Sallans, M. (2017). Relationship among gender-related stress, resilience factors, and mental health in a Midwestern US trans and gender-nonconforming population.

  \*International Journal of Transgenderism, 18(4), 433–445. doi: 10.1080/15532739.2017.1365034
- Brill, S., & Pepper, R. (2008). *The transgender child: A handbook for families and professionals*. Cleis Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Harvard University Press.

- Bry, L. J., Mustanski, B., Garofalo, R., & Burns, M. N. (2017). Management of a concealable stigmatized identity: A qualitative study of concealment, disclosure, and role flexing among young, resilient sexual and gender minority individuals.

  \*\*Journal of Homosexuality, 64, 745–769. doi:10.1080/00918369.2016.1236574\*
- Budge, S. L., Orovecz, J. J., & Thai, J. L. (2015). Trans men's positive emotions: The interaction of gender identity and emotion labels. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 43, 404 434. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0011000014565715
- Burke, K. L., Joyner, A. B., Czech, D. R., & Wilson, M. J. (2000). An investigation of concurrent validity between two optimism/pessimism questionnaires: The life orientation test-revised and the optimism/pessimism scale. *Current Psychology*, 19, 129–136. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s12144-000-1009-5.pdf
- Byrne, B. M. (2008). Testing for multigroup equivalence of a measuring instrument: A walk through the process. *Psicothema*, 20, 872-882.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2017. *Web-based Injury Statistics Query and Reporting System*(WISQARS). www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars
- Cha, C. B., & Nock, M. K. (2008). Emotional intelligence is a protective factor for suicidal behavior. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48, 422-430. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0B013e31819884f44.

- Chang, E. C., Chang, O. D., Martos, T., Sallay, B., Lee, J., Stam, K. R., Batterbee, C. N. H., & Yu, T. (2017). Family support as a moderator of the relationship between loneliness and suicide risk in college students: Having a supportive family matters! *The Family Journal*, 25(30, 257 263. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480717711102
- Chehil, S., & Kutcher, S. P. (2012). Suicide risk management: A manual for health professionals (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Chioqueta, A. P., & Stiles, T. C. (2007). The relationship between psychological buffers, hopelessness, and suicidal ideation: Identification of protective factors. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 28*(2), 67–73.

  https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910.28.2.67
- Clements-Noelle, K., Marx, R., & Katz, M. (2006). Attempted suicide among transgender persons: The influence of gender-based discrimination and victimization. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 51(3), 143-148. doi:10.1300/J082v51n03 04
- Cogan, C. M., Scholl, J. A., Cole, H. E., & Davis, J. L. (2020). The moderating role of community resilience on suicide risk in the transgender population. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 14(1), 2 17. doi: 10.1080/15538605.2020.1711291
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2<sup>nd</sup> edition). Routledge.
- Cole-Lewis, Y. C., Gipson, P. Y., Opperman, K. J., Arango, A., & King, C. A. (2016).

  Protective role of religious involvement against depression and suicidal ideation among youth with interpersonal problems. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 55, 1172 1188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-016-0194-y

- Comiskey, A., Parent, M. C., & Tebbe, E. A. (2020). An inhospitable world: Exploring a model of objectification theory with trans women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 44(1), 105 -116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684319889595
- Corsani, A. (2007). Beyond the myth of woman: The becoming-transfeminist of (post-)Marxism. *Substance: A Review of Theory & Literary Criticism*, *36*(1), 107-134. doi:10.1353/sub.2007.0005
- Cox, D. R., & E. J. Snell (1989) Analysis of Binary Data. (2<sup>nd</sup> edition) Chapman & Hall.
- Crosby, A. E., Ortega, L., & Melanson, C. (2011) Self-directed violence surveillance: uniform definitions and recommended data elements, version 1.0. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.
- Crosby, R. A., Salazar, L. F., & Hill, B. J. (2016). Gender affirmation and resiliency among Black transgender women with and without HIV infection. *Transgender Health*, *I*(1), 86 93. doi: 10.1089/trgh.2016.0005
- Crow, S., Eisenberg, M. E., Story, M., & Neumark-Sztainer, D. (2008). Suicidal behavior in adolescents: Relationship to weight status, weight control behaviors, and body dissatisfaction. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 41(1), 82-87. doi: 10.1002/eat.20466
- Curtin, S. C., Warner, M., & Hedegaard, H. (2016a). Increase in Suicide in the United States, 1999 2014. NCHS Data Brief, 241, 1 8.

  https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db241.pdf

- D'Augelli, A. R., Hershberger, S. L., & Pilkington, N. W. (2001). Suicidality patterns and sexual orientation-related factors among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behaviors, 31(3), 250-264. doi:10.1521/suli.31.3.250.24246
- Delozier, A. M., Kamody, R. C., Rodgers, S., & Chen, D. (2020). Health disparities in transgender and gender expansive adolescents: A topical review from a minority stress framework. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 45(8), 842 847. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa040
- de Beurs, D., Fried, E., Wetherall, K., Cleare, S., O'Connor, D., Ferguson, E., O'Carroll, R., & O'Connor, R. (2019). Exploring the psychology of suicidal ideation: A theory driven network analysis. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 120*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103419
- de Vries, A. L., McGuire, J. K., Steensma, T. D., Wagenar, E. C., Doreleijers, T. A., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2014). Young adult psychological outcome after puberty suppression and gender reassignment. Pediatrics, 134, 696–704. doi:10.1542/peds.2013-2958
- Diamond, L. M., Pardo, S. T., & Butterworth, M. R. (2011). Border crossings:

  Transgender experience and identity. In S. Schwartz, K. Luyckx & V. Vignoles

  (Eds.), *Handbook of identity theory and research* (pp. 249–267). Oxford

  University Press

- Eisenberg, M. E., Gower, A. L., McMorris, B. J., Rider, G. N., Shea, G., & Coleman, E. (2017). Risk and protective factors in the lives of transgender/gender nonconforming adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *61*, 521–526. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.04.014
- Eisenberg, M. E., & Resnick, M. D. (2006). Suicidality among gay, lesbian and bisexual youth: The role of protective factors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *39*(5), 662-668. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.04.024
- Evans, E., Hawton, K., & Rodham, K. (2004). Factors associated with suicidal phenomena in adolescents: A systematic review of population based studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 24, 957-579. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2004.04.005
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160. doi:10.3758/brm.41.4.1149
- Fedyszyn, I. E., Harris, M. G., Robinson, J., & Paxton, S. J. (2012). Classification algorithm for the determination of suicide attempt and suicide (CAD-SAS).

  Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 33(3), 151 161. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000122
- Field, A. (2017). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (5<sup>th</sup> edition). SAGE Publications.
- Frost, D. M., & Meyer, I. H. (2012). Measuring community connectedness among diverse sexual minority populations. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49, 36 49. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2011.565427

- Frost, D. M., Meyer, I. H., Schwartz, S. (2016) Social support networks among diverse sexual minority populations. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 86(1), 91 102. doi: 10.1037/ort0000117
- Garnett, M. F., Curtin, S. C., Stone, D. M (2022). Suicide mortality in the United States, 2000–2020. *NCHS Data Brief, no 433*. National Center for Health Statistics. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:114217
- Gearing, R. E., & Lizardi, D. (2008). Religion and suicide. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 48, 332 341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-008-9181-2
- Glenn, C. R., & Nock, M. K. (2014). Improving the prediction of suicidal behavior in youth. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 9(3), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0101633
- Glynn, T. R., Gamarel, K. E., Kahler, C. W., Iwamoto, M., Operario, D., & Nemoto, T. (2016). The role of gender affirmation in psychological wellbeing among transgender women. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity 3*(3), 336 333. https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000171
- Grant, J. M., Mottet, L. A., Tanis, J., Herman, J. L., Harrison, J., & Keisling, M. (2010).
  National Transgender Discrimination Survey Report on Health and Health Care.
  National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task
  Force.
- Goldenberg, T., Jadwin-Cakmak, L., Popoff, E., Reisner, S. L., Campbell, B. A., & Harper, G. W. (2019). Stigma, gender affirmation, and primary healthcare use among Black transgender youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 65, 483 490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.04.029

- Hendricks, M. L., & Testa, R. J. (2012). A conceptual framework for clinical work with transgender and gender nonconforming clients: An adaptation of the Minority Stress Model. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 43(5), 460–467. doi:10.1037/a0029597
- Herman, J. L., Brown, T. N. T., & Haas, A. P (2019). Suicide thoughts and attempts among transgender adults findings from the 2015 U.S. transgender survey. The Williams Institute.
- Hines, S. (2009) A pathway to diversity?: human rights, citizenship and the politics of transgender, *Contemporary Politics*, 15(1), 87-102. doi: 10.1080/13569770802674238
- Hirsch, J. K., Conner, K. R., & Duberstein, P. R. (2007). Optimism and suicide ideation among young adult college students. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 11, 177-185. doi: 10.1080/13811110701249988
- Hirsch, J. K., & Ellis, J. B. (1998). Reasons for living in homosexual and heterosexual young adults. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 4(3), 243 248. doi:10.1080/13811119808258299
- Hottes, T., S., Bogaert, L., Rhodes, A. E., Brennan, D. J., & Gesink, D. (2016). Lifetime prevalence of suicide attempts among sexual minority adults by study sampling strategies: A systemic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106, 1 12. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303088

- House, A. S., Van Horn, E., Coppeans, C., & Stepleman, L. M. (2011). Interpersonal trauma and discriminatory events as predictors of suicidal and nonsuicidal self-injury in gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender person. *Traumatology*, 17(2), 75-85. doi: 10.1177/1534765610395621
- Hu, L., & Bentler P.M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6 (1), 1-55.
- James, S. E., Herman, J. L., Rankin, S., Keisling, M., Mottet, L., & Anafi, M. (2016). The Report of the 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey. National Center for Transgender Equality
- Johns, M. M., Beltran, O., Armstrong, H. L., Jayne, P. E., & Barrios, L. C. (2018)
  Protective factors among transgender and gender variant youth: a systematic review by socioecological level. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 39(3), 263–301.
  doi: 10.1007/s10935-018-0508-9
- Johns, M. M., Beltran, O., Armstrong, H. L., Jayne, P. E., & Barrios, L. C. (2018)
  Protective factors among transgender and gender variant youth: a systematic
  review by socioecological level. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 39(3), 263–301.
  doi: 10.1007/s10935-018-0508-9

- Johns, M. M., Lowry, R., Andrzeiewski, J., Barrios, L. C., Demissie, Z., McManus, T., Rasberry, C. N., Robin, L., & Underwood, J. M. (2019). Transgender identity and experiences of violence victimization, substance use, suicide risk, and sexual risk behaviors among high school students 19 states and large urban school districts, 2017. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 68, 67 71. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68/wr/mm6803a3.htm
- Johnson, R. B., Oxendine, S., Taub, D. J., & Robertson, J. (2013). Suicide prevention for LGBT students. New Directions for Student Services, 2013, 55-69. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ss.20040
- Kaniuka, A., Pugh, K. C., Jordan, M., Brooks, B., Dodd, J., Mann, A. K., Williams, S. L.,
  & Hirsch, J. K. (2019). Stigma and suicide risk among the LGBTQ population:
  Are anxiety and depression to blame and can connectedness to the LGBTQ
  community help? *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 23(2), 205 220.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/19359705.2018.1560385
- Kelleher, C. (2009). Minority stress and health: Implications for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning (LGBTQ) young people. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 22(4), 373–379. doi:10.1080/09515070903334995
- Kleiman, E. M., & Liu, R. T. (2013). Social support as a protective factor in suicide: Findings from two nationally representative samples. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 150(2), 540 545. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.033

- Kleiman, E. M., & Liu, R. T. (2014). Prospective prediction of suicide in a nationally representative sample: religious service attendance as a protective factor. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 204, 262-266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.128900
- Klonsky, E. D., & May, A. M. (2015). The three-step theory (3ST): A new theory of suicide rooted in the "ideation-to-action" framework. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(2), 114 129.
- Kota, K. K., Salazar, L. F., Culbreth, R. E., Crosby, R. A., & Jones, J. (2020).
  Psychosocial mediators of perceived stigma and suicidal ideation among transgender women. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 125.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8177-z
- Kozee, H. B., Tylka, T. L., & Bauerband, L. A. (2012). Measuring transgender individuals' comfort with gender identity and appearance: Development and validation of the transgender congruence scale. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 36(2), 179-196. doi: 10.1177/0361684312442161
- Lev, A. I. (2004). Transgender emergence: Therapeutic guidelines for working with gender variant people and their families. Haworth Clinical Practice Press
- Lindgren, T. W., & Pauly, B. A. (1976). Body image and gender identity. *Journal of homosexuality*, 2(2), 133 142. ttps://doi.org/10.1300/J082v02n02 04
- Linehan, M. M., Goodstein, J. L., Nielsen, S. L., & Chiles, J. A. (1983). Reasons for staying alive when you are thinking of killing yourself: The reasons for living inventory. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *5*(2), 276-286. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.51.2.276

- Liu, Y. L. (2002). The role of perceived social support and dysfunctional attitudes in predicting Taiwanese adolescents' depressive tendency. *Adolescence*, *37*, 823–834. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12564832/
- Lyubomirsky, S., & Lepper, H. (1999). A measure of subjective happiness: Preliminary reliability and construct validation. *Social Indicators Research*, *46*, 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006824100041
- Maddala, G. S. (1983) *Limited dependent and qualitative variables in econometrics*.

  Cambridge University Press.
- Maguen, S., & Shipherd, J. C. (2010). Suicide risk among transgender individuals.

  \*Psychology and Sexuality, 1(1), 34 43. doi: 10.1080/19419891003634430
- Marshal, M. P., Dietz, L. J., Friedman, M. S., Stall, R., Smith, H., McGinsley, J., Thoma,
  B., Murray, P. J., D'Augelli, A., & Brent, D. (2011). Suicidality and Depression
  Disparities between Sexual Minority and Heterosexual Youth: A Meta-Analytic
  Review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 49(2), 115–123.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.02.005.Suicidality
- Mathy, R. M., Schillace, M., Coleman, S. M., & Berquist, B. E. (2002). Methodological Rigor with Internet Samples: New Ways to Reach Underrepresented Populations. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, *5*(3), 253-266. doi: 10.1089/109493102760147259
- Mars, B., Heron, J., Klonsky, E. D., Moran, P., O'Connor, R. C., Tilling, K., Wilkinson,
  P., & Gunnell, D. (2019). What distinguishes adults with suicidal thoughts from those who have attempted suicide? A population-based birth cohort study. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 60(1), 91 99. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12878

- Matsuno, E., & Budge, S. L. (2017). Non-binary/genderqueer identities: A critical review of the literature. *Current Sexual Health Reports*, *9*, 116–120. doi:10.1007/s11930-017-0111-8
- May, A. M., & Klonsky, E. D. (2016). What distinguishes suicide attempters from suicide ideators? A meta-analysis of potential factors. *Clinical Psychology Science and Practice*, 23(1), 5 20. https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12136
- McBee-Strayer, S. M., & Rogers, J. R. (2002). Lesbian, gay, and bisexual suicidal behavior: Testing a constructivist model. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 32(3), 272-283. doi:10.1521/suli.32.3.272.22171
- McCullumsmith, C. B., Clark, C. B., Perkins, A., Fife, J., & Cropsey, K. L. (2013).

  Gender and racial differences for suicide attempters and ideators in a high-risk community corrections population. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, 34, 50-62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000160
- Mcdonald, N. (2016). Steinbach's gay pride. *Maclean's Magazine, 129* (29/30), 19-20.

  Retrieved from:https://www.macleans.ca/news/canada/small-town-steinbach-fills-to-bursting-with-gay-pride
- McLemore, K. A. (2015). Experiences with misgendering: Identity misclassification of transgender spectrum individuals. *Self and Identity*, 14, 51-74. doi:10.1080/15298868.2014.950691
- Menard, S. (2000). Coefficients of determination for multiple logistic regression analysis. *The American Statistician* 54, 17-24.
- Meyer, I. H. (1995). Minority stress and mental health in gay men. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *36*, 38–56. doi:10.2307/2137286

- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 674–697. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Meyer, I. H. (2015). Resilience in the study of minority stress and health of sexual and gender minorities. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2, 209–213. doi:10.1037/sgd0000132
- Miller, A. B., Esposito-Smythers, C., & Leichtweis, R. N. (2015). Role of social support in adolescent suicidal ideation and suicide attempts. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56, 286 292. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.10.265
- Miller, D. L., Manne, S. L., Taylor, K., Keates, J., & Dougherty, J. (1996). Psychological distress and well-being in advanced cancer: The effects of optimism and coping.

  \*Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 3, 115–130.
- Mirkovic, B., Labelle, R., Guilé, J., Belloncle, V., Bodeau, N., Knafo, A., Condat, A.,
  Bapt-Cazalets, N., Marguet, C., Breton, J., Cohen, D., & Géradin, P. (2015).
  Coping skills among adolescent suicide attempters: Results of a multisite study.
  The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 60(2), 37 45. Retrieved from
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4345847/
- Mitchell, S. M., Jahn, D. R., & Cukrowicz, K. C. (2014). The relation between illegal risk behaviors and the acquired capability for suicide. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 35*, 368-377. http://dx.doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000274

- Moody, C., Fuks, N., Peláez, S., & Smith, N. G. (2015). "Without this, I would for sure already be dead": A qualitative inquiry regarding suicide protective factors among trans adults. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity, 2*, 266–280. doi:10.1037/sgd0000130
- Moody, C., & Smith, N. G. (2013). Suicide protective factors among trans adults.

  \*Archives of Sexual Behavior, 42, 739-752. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10508-013-0099-8
- Murray, C. D., Macdonald, S., & Fox, J. (2008). Body satisfaction, eating disorders and suicide ideation in an internet sample of self-harmers reporting and not reporting childhood sexual abuse. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 13*(1), 29-42. doi: 10.1080/13548500701235757
- Nagelkerke, N. J. D. (1991). A note on a general definition of the coefficient of determination. *Biometrika*, 78: 691-692.
- Nagoshi, J. L., Adams, K. A., Terrel, H. K., Hill, E. D., Brzuzy, S., & Nagoshi, C. T. (2008). Gender differences in correlates of homophobia and transphobia. *Sex Roles*, *59*, 521-531. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9458-7
- Nemoto, T., Bödeker, B., & Iwamoto, M. (2011). Social support, exposure to violence and transphobia, and correlates of depression among male-to-female transgender women with a history of sex work. *American Journal of Public Health, 101*(10), 1980-1987. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2010.197285
- Nemoto, T., Operario, D., Keatley, J., & Villegas, D. (2004). Social context of HIV risk behaviors among male-to-female transgenders of color. *AIDS Care*, *16*, 724–735. doi:10.1080/09540120413331269567.

- Nuttbrock, L., Rosenblum, A., & Blumenstein, R. (2002). Transgender identity affirmation and mental health. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 6(4)
- Nuttbrock, L., Hwahng, S., Bockting, W., Rosenblum, A., Mason, M., Macri, M., & Becker, J. (2009). Lifetime risk factors for HIV/ sexually transmitted infections among male-to-female transgender persons. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 52, 417–421 doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181ab6ed8.
- Olson-Kennedy, J., & Warus, J. (2017). The impact of male chest reconstruction on chest dysphoria in transmasculine adolescents and young men; A preliminary study.

  \*\*Journal of Adolescent Health, 60, S88. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.10.354\*
- Osman, A., Bagge, C. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Konick, L. C., Kopper, B. A., & Barrios, F. X. (2001). The suicidal behaviors questionnaire-revised (SBQ-R): Validation with clinical and nonclinical samples. *Assessment*, 8, 443–454. doi: 10.1177/107319110100800409
- Owen-Smith, A. A., Gerth, J., Sineath, R. G., Barzilay, J., Becerra-Culgui, T. A., Getahun, D., Giammattei, S., Hunkeler, E., Lash, T. L., Millman, A., Nash, R., Quinn, V. P., Robinson, B., Roblin, D., Sanchez, T., Silverberg, M. J., Tangpricha, V., Valentine, C., Winter, S., ... Goodman, M. (2018). Association between gender confirmation treatments and perceived gender congruence, body image satisfaction and mental health in a cohort of transgender individuals.

  \*\*Journal of Sexual Medicine\*, 15(4), 591 600. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2018.01.017

- Pflum, S., Testa, R. J., Balsam, K., Goldblum, P., & Bongar, B. (2015). Social support, trans community connectedness, and mental health symptoms among transgender and gender nonconforming adults. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2(3), 281 286. doi: 10.1037/sgd0000122
- Porta, C. M., Gower, A. L., Mehus, C. J., Yu, X., Saewyc, E., & Eisenberg, M. E. (2017). "Kicked out": LGBTQ youths' bathroom experiences and preferences. *Journal of Adolescence*, *56*, 107 – 112. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.02.005
- Procidano, M. E., & Heller, K. (1983). Measures of perceived social support from friends and from family: Three validation studies. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 11(1), 1-24. doi: 10.1007/BF00898416
- Rabasco, A., & Andover, M. (2021). Suicidal ideation among transgender and gender diverse adults: A longitudinal study of risk and protective factors. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 278, 136 143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.052
- Renn, K. A. (2007). LGBT student leaders and queer activists: Identities of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer identified college student leaders and activists.

  Journal of College Student Development, 48(3), 311-330. doi: 10.1353/csd.2007.0029
- Rimes, K. A., Shivakumar, S., Ussher, G., Baker, D., Rahman, Q., & West, E. (2019).

  Psychosocial factors associated with suicide attempts, ideation, and future risk in lesbian, gay and bisexual youth: The youth chances study. *Crisis*, 40(2), 83 92. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000527

- Röder, M., Barkmann, C., Richter-Appelt, H., Schulte-Markwort, M., Ravens-Sieberer,
  U., & Becker, I. (2018) Health-related quality of life in transgender adolescents:
  Associations with body image and emotional and behavioral problems.
  International Journal of Transgenderism, 19(1), 78-91. doi:
  10.1080/15532739.2018.1425649
- Rodriguez-Madera, S., & Toro-Alfonso, J. (2005). Gender as an obstacle in HIV/AIDS prevention: Considerations for the development of HIV/AIDS prevention efforts for male-to-female transgenders. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 8(2), 113–122. doi:10.1300/J485v08n02\_10
- Rood, B. A., Reisner, S. L., Surace, F. I., Puckett, J. A., Maroney, M. R., & Pantalone, D.
   W. (2016). Expecting rejection: Understanding the minority stress experiences of transgender and gender-nonconforming individuals. *Transgender Health*, 1, 151–164. doi:10.1089/trgh.2016.0012
- Russell, S. T., Pollitt, A. M., Li, G., & Grossman, A. H. (2018). Chosen name use is linked to reduced depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation, and suicidal behavior among transgender youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 63, 503 505. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.04.014
- Rutter, P. A. (2008). Suicide protective and risk factors for sexual minority youth:

  Applying the cumulative factor model. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*,

  2(1), 81-92. doi: 10.1080/15538600802077681
- Saewyc, E. M., Homma, Y., Skay, C. L., Bearinger, L. H., Resnick, M. D., & Reis, E. (2009). Protective factors in the lives of bisexual adolescents in North America. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(1), 110–117.

- Sanchez, N. F., Sanchez, J. P., & Danoff, A. (2009). Health care utilization, barriers to care, and hormone usage among male-to-female transgender persons in New York City. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(4), 713 719.
- Scheim, A., Perez-Brumer, A. G., & Bauer, G. R. (2020). Gender-concordant identity documents and mental health among transgender adults in the USA: A cross-sectional study. *Lancet Public Health*, 5, 196 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30032-3
- Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism: A reevaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 1063–1078. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.67.6.1063
- Schmitt, M. T., Branscombe, N. R., Silvia, P. J., Garcia, D. M., & Spears, R. (2006).

  Categorizing at the group-level in response to intragroup social comparisons: a self-categorization theory integration of self-evaluation and social identity motives. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 36(3), 297 314.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.306
- Seelman, K. L. (2016). Transgender adults' access to college bathrooms and housing and the relationship to suicidality. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 63(10), 1378 1399. doi: 10.1080/009183692016.1157998
- Sevelius, J. M. (2013). Gender affirmation: A framework for conceptualizing risk behavior among transgender women of color. *Sex Roles*, *68*, 675–689. doi:10.1007/s11199-012-0216-5

- Shah, H. B. U., Rashid, F., Atif, I., Hydrie, M. Z., Fawad, M. W. B., Muzaffar, H. Z.,
  Rehman, A., Anjum, S., Mehroz, M. B., Haider, A., Hassan, A., & Shukar, H.
  (2018). Challenges faced by marginalized communities such as transgenders in
  Pakistan. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 30(96). doi:
  10.11604/pamj.2018.30.96.12818
- Shahram, S. Z., Smith, M. L., Plamondon, K., Ben-David, S., & Federsen. (2021).

  Promoting "zest for life": A systematic literature review of resiliency factors to prevent youth suicide. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 31(1), 4 24.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/jora.12588
- Sher, L. (2019). Resilience as a focus of suicide research and prevention. *Acta*Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 140(2), 169 180. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13059
- Shipherd, J., Maguen, S., Skidmore, W. C., & Abramovitz, S. M. (2011). Potentially traumatic events in a transgender sample: Frequency and associated symptoms. *Traumatology*, 17(2), 56-67. doi:10.1177/1534765610395614
- Shulman, G. P., Holt, N. R., Hope, D. A., Mocarski, R., Eyer, J., & Woodruff, N. (2017).

  A review of contemporary assessment tools for use with transgender and gender nonconforming adults. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 4(3), 304 313. doi: 10.1037/sgd0000233
- Singh, A. A. (2013). Transgender youth of color and resilience: Negotiating oppression and finding support. *Sex Roles*, 68, 690–702. doi:10.1007/s11199-012-0149-z
- Singh, A. A., Hays, D. G., & Watson, L. S. (2011). Strength in the face of adversity:

  Resilience strategies of transgender individuals. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 89, 20–27. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00057.x

- Smith, A. J., Hallum-Montes, R., Nevin, K., Zenker, R., Sutherland, B., Reagor, S.,
  Orttiz, M. E., Woods, C., Frost, M., Cochran, B., Oost, K., Gleason, H., &
  Brennan, J. M. (2018). Determinants of transgender individuals' well-being,
  mental health, and suicidality in a rural state. *Rural Mental Health*, 42(2), 116 132. doi: 10.1037/rmh0000089.
- Standley, C. J. (2020). Expanding our paradigms: Intersectional and socioecological approaches to suicide prevention. *Death studies*, online first. doi: 10.1080/07481187.2020.1725934
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.) Pearson.
- Taliaferro, L. A., McMorris, B. J., Rider, G. N., & Eisenberg, M. E. (2019). Risk and protective factors for self-harm in a population-based sample of transgender youth. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 23(2), 203 221. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2018.1430639
- Taliaferro, L. A., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2013). Risk and protective factors that distinguish adolescents who attempt suicide from those who only consider suicide in the past year. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 44(1), 1-18. doi: 10.1111/sltb.12046
- Tebbe, E. A., & Moradi, B. (2016). Suicide risk in trans populations: An application of minority stress theory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63)5), 520-533. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/cou0000152
- Testa, R. J., Habarth, J., Peta, J., Balsam, K., & Bockting, W. (2015). Development of the gender minority stress and resilience measure. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation* and Gender Diversity, 2(1), 65-77. doi:10.1037/sgd0000081

- Treharne, G. J., Riggs, D. W., Ellis, S. J., Flett, J. A., & Bartholomaeus, C. (2020).

  Suicidality, self-harm, and their correlates among transgender and cisgender people living in Aotearoa/New Zealand or Australia. International Journal of Transgender Health, 21(4), 440–454. doi: 10.1080/26895269.2020.1795959
- Trujillo, M. A., Perrin, P. B., Sutter, M., Tabaac, A., & Benotach, E. G. (2017). The buffering role of social support on the associations among discrimination, mental health, and suicidality in a transgender sample. *International Journal of Transgenderism 18*(1), 39 52. doi: 10.1080/15532739.2016.1247405
- Tucker, R. P., Wingate, L. R., O'Keefe, V. M., Mills, A. C., Rasmussen, K., Davidson, C. L., & Grant, D. M. (2013). Rumination and suicidal ideation: The moderating roles of hope and optimism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 55, 606 611. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.05.013
- Twist, J., & de Graaf, N. M. (2019). Gender diversity and non-binary presentations in young people attending the United Kingdom's national gender identity development service. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 24(2), 277 290. doi: 10.1177/1359104518804311
- Vaitses Fontanari, A. M., Vilanova, F., Schneider, M. A., Chinazzo, I., Machado, B., Schwarz, K., Rodrigues Lobato, M. I., & Costa, A. B. (2020). Gender affirmation is associated with transgender and gender nonbinary youth mental health improvement. *LGBT Health*, 7(5), 237 247. doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2019.0046
- Wagner, B., Cole, R., & Schwartzman, P. (1995). Psychosocial correlates of suicide attempts among junior and senior high school youth. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 25, 358-372. 10.1111/j.1943-278X.1995.tb00958.x

- Walls, N. E., Freedenthal, S., & Wisneski, H. (2008). Suicidal Ideation and Attempts among minority youths receiving social services. *Social Work, 53*(1), 21-29. doi:10.1093/sw/53.1.21
- Watson, R. J., Grosssman, A. H., & Russell, S. T. (2019). Sources of social support and mental health among LGB youth. *Youth & Society*, 51(1), 30 48. doi: 10.1177/0044118X16660110
- Weinhardt, L. S., Stevens, P., Xie, H., Wesp, L. M., John, S. A., Apchemengich, I., Kioko, D., Chavez-Korell, S., Cochran, K. M., Watjen, J. M., & Labrou, N. H. (2017). Transgender and gender nonconforming youths' public facilities use and psychological well-being: A mixed-methods study. *Transgender Health*, 2(1), 140 151. doi: 10.1089/trgh.2017.0020
- Weston, R., & Gore, P. A., Jr. (2006). SEM 101: A brief guide to structural equation modeling. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *34*, 719-751. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006286345
- White, J. (2016). Reimagining youth suicide prevention. In White, Marsh, Kral, & Morris (Eds.), *Critical suicidology: Transforming suicide research and prevention for the 21st century*. The University of British Columbia Press.
- World Health Organization. (2014). *Preventing suicide: A global imperative*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization

# **APPENDICES**

### APPENDIX A: TABLES

**Table 1**Demographic Characteristics of Participants

Variable	N	%
Gender <sup>a</sup>		
Transgender	45	
Transman	30	
Transwoman	17	
FTM	30	
MTF	17	
FTM spectrum	16	
MTF spectrum	3	
Nonbinary	36	
Androgyne	2	
Polygender	1	
Genderqueer	15	
Gender non-conforming	9	
Two Spirit	2	
Genderfluid	8	
Other	9	
Sexuality <sup>a</sup>		
Lesbian	15	
Gay	7	
Bisexual	29	
Queer	34	
Pansexual	27	
Not sure/Questioning	3	
Asexual	7	
Heterosexual/Straight	8	
Other	7	
Race		
Native American/First Nation	1	1.1
Black/African American	1	1.1

Hispanic/Latinx	3	3.2
White Non-Hispanic/Latinx	83	87.4
Asian/Pacific Islander	1	1.1
Biracial/Multiracial	5	5.3
Other	1	1.1
Partnership Status		
Single, never married	29	30.5
In a committed relationship	22	23.2
Cohabitating	7	7.4
Married	23	24.2
Separated/divorced	9	9.5
Widowed	0	0
Remarried	0	0
Other	5	5.3

Note. N = 95

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Percentages not listed for gender and sexuality as they total more than 100%; participants were allowed to choose multiple categories that fit their experience.

**Table 2**Demographic Characteristics of Participants Continued

Variable	N	%
Religion <sup>a</sup>	1 <b>V</b>	/0
Aboriginal	5	
Agnostic	16	
Buddhism	2	
Catholicism	5	
Christianity	13	
Hinduism		
Islam	1	
Judaism	0	
Sikhism		
	0	
No religion	45	
Other	22	
Education	0	0
No formal education	0	0
Did not graduate from high school	8	8.4
High school graduate	9	9.5
Some college	34	35.8
College graduate	25	26.8
Some graduate school	3	3.2
Master's degree	14	14.7
Doctorate	2	2.1
Employment		
Full-time	59	62.1
Part-time	9	9.5
Self-employed	1	1.1
Unemployed	5	5.3
Unable to work	7	7.4
Homemaker	2	2.1
Student	10	10.5
Retired	2	2.1
Household income		
\$0-20,000	23	24.2
\$20,001-35,000	20	21.1
\$35,001-55,000	19	20.0
\$55,001-75,000	15	15.8
\$75,001-100,000	6	6.3
\$100,001-150,000	6	6.3
\$150,001+	6	6.3

Note. N = 95

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Percentages not listed for religion as they total more than 100%; participants were allowed to choose multiple categories that fit their experience.

**Table 3**Descriptive Statistics for Study Variables

Variable	n	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis
Suicidal ideation	95	.88	.322	-2.440	4.039
Legal records – Gender/Pronouns	95	1.61	1.61 .490		-1.827
Legal records – Correct Name	95	1.44	.499	.237	-1.986
Optimism	95	12.011	4.440	282	.387
Body Congruence	95	3.213	.895	022	809
Pride	95	19.211	8.034	387	930
Community Connectedness	95	12.063	4.899	421	395
Friend Support	95	14.347	5.367	-1.007	.090
Family Support	95	7.810	6.419	.432	-1.105

**Table 4**Correlations for Factors of SI

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1. Legal records – Gender/Pronouns	1.000	503	044	.013	.055	173	.136	061
2. Legal records – Correct Name		1.000	.205	.437	132	.037	182	.275
3. Optimism			1.000	.066	107	178	206	256
4. Body Congruence				1.000	341	059	236	.059
5. Pride					1.000	229	057	.122
6. Community Connectedness						1.000	016	007
7. Friend Support							1.000	160
8. Family Support								1.000

 Table 5

 Binary Logistic Regression Analysis: Variables of SI

Variable	В	SE	Wald	Exp (B)	Sig.	95% C.I. for Exp(B)		
	Dependent variable: Suicidal ideation (0 = no, 1 = yes)							
Legal records – Gender/Pronouns	.654	1.047	.390	1.924	.532	.247, 14.980		
Legal records – Correct Name	-2.303	1.155	3.973*	.100	.046	.010, .962		
Optimism	072	.096	.568	.930	.451	.771, 1.123		
Body Congruence	558	.576	.939	.572	.333	.185, 1.770		
Pride	010	.052	.036	.990	.851	.894, 1.097		
Community Connectedness	235	.118	3.958*	.791	.047	.627, .997		
Friend Support	.000	.079	.000	1.00	.996	.856, 1.167		
Family Support	.016	.065	.061	1.016	.804	.895, 1.154		

Note. N = 95.  $R^2 = .173$  (Cox & Snell), .333 (Nagelkerke). Percent correctly classified = 89.1%. \*p < .01.

### APPENDIX B: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW

Suicide is ranked as the third-leading cause of death for young adults and adolescents (15-24 years old) in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011). According to the World Health Organization (WHO, 2014), an estimated one million people in the general public die by suicide around the world each year. There have been increasing efforts to better understand the various factors that relate to an individual's suicide risk; however, suicide prevention continues to persist as a difficult task as rates rise in the United States (Curtin, et al., 2016a).

Within the general population in the United States, there are a number of themes and variables that have been identified as suicide risk factors (e.g., substance use, psychiatric diagnosis, increased levels of aggressive behaviors, social isolation and loneliness, history of trauma and abuse, homelessness, and previous suicidal attempts; McCullumsmith et al., 2013; Mitchell et al., 2014). Binary gender differences also correlate with some suicide risk behaviors. For example, women were 1.8 times more likely to attempt suicide; whereas suicide rates are approximately 3 – 4 times higher among men in comparison to women, such that men died by suicide 3.88x more than women in 2020 (Garnett, et al., 2022).

Within suicidology literature there has been an increased focus on generating a clear articulation of suicidal phenomena. Suicidality, as a term, consists of multiple

outcomes and behaviors surrounding suicide such as, death by suicide, suicide attempt, suicidal ideation and intent, and self-harm (Fedyszyn et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2012). Suicidality may be used interchangeably with "suicidal behaviors" in this literature review. Another term to understand is suicidal ideation is the act of thinking about, planning, or considering suicide (Crosby et al., 2011). Suicidal Ideation and Suicidal Attempts

### Attempts

Suicidal ideation refers to suicidal thoughts, including contemplating or planning to end one's own life. Suicidal behavior includes behaviors and specific action taken with the intention of ending life, which would include suicide attempts or deaths from suicide (Gosling et al., 2022). There have been several trends within suicidal behavior such as suicide attempts occurring more frequently than deaths from suicide; specifically, attempts occur 20 times more frequently than deaths from suicides (WHO, 2011). However, a more common phenomenon is higher rates of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts (Borges et al., 2008); therefore, not everyone who experiences suicidal ideation goes on to attempt suicide. Because only approximately one-third of individuals who have thought about suicide will progress to a suicide attempt, increasing attention has been paid to identifying factors which distinguish between these two groups (Glenn and Nock, 2014; Nock et al., 2013).

Specifically, for the age range of 18-29 adults, Crosby et al (2011) indicated that approximately 2.9 million individuals have suicidal ideation within a year, in comparison to the one million adults who indicate attempting suicide. These results indicate that more adults think about suicide than those who act on their suicidal thoughts. There is growing literature to understand what prevents people from attempting suicide (Mars et al., 2019;

Shahram et al., 2021; Taliaferro & Muehlenkamp, 2014). For example, one study found adolescents who attempted suicide endorsed stressors related to parents and a lack of connectedness to adult figures more frequently; whereas those who only considered suicide reported more experiences of physical abuse by parent figures, and running away from home (Wagner et al., 1995). The Wagner et al., study highlights differences between people who only consider suicide and those who attempt suicide.

### **Protective Factors in General Public**

Protective factors are understood to not simply be a lack of risk factors in an individual's life, nor are they the opposite of risk factors (Cha & Nock, 2008). Protective factors are aspects that tend to reduce the likelihood and vulnerability of suicidal behavior and increase the likelihood of positive outcomes (Chehil & Kutcher, 2012; Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006; Evans et al., 2004). Furthermore, the interest in protective factors increased after observing that those with exposure to risk factors do not always continue on to develop suicidal behaviors (Beautrais et al., 2005). A number of the models discuss the importance of protective factors to understand suicidality. Regarding suicidology research, the study and emphasis on protective factors is an understudied concept in comparison to the existing literature of suicide risk factors (de Beurs et al., 2019).

One of the first foundational studies that considered protective factors was conducted by Linehan et al. (1983) by operationalizing the complex and imperative role of protective factors at play for the general public. Linehan et al (1983) conducted a qualitative study to understand people who felt suicidal and what were the important reasons they decided to not kill themselves. Sixty-five individuals produced 72 "reasons"

for living", which were factor analyzed and reduced to 48 items to create the Reasons for Living Inventory (RFL). The RFL consists of six distinct categories of reasons; survival and coping beliefs, responsibility to family, child-related concerns, fear of suicide, fear of social disapproval, and moral objections related to suicide.

Emphasizing the importance of protective factors also leads to an increased focus on resilience, rather than the overemphasis on the negativity of risk factors. Protective factors also indicate that potential solutions to suicidality may be addressed by highlighting factors that increase one's sense of resiliency (Beautrais et al., 2005; Sher, 2019). Within the general adult population, there exists a range of potential protective factors such as, but not limited to, a confiding and supportive relationship (Chang et al., 2017), good coping and adaptive skills (Mirkovic et al., 2015), religious and/or spiritual values (Cole-Lewis et al., 2016; Gearing & Lizardi, 2008), and optimism (Hirsch et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2013).

Although these protective factors have been identified as having a positive buffering effect on suicidal behaviors, researchers continue to call for integrative research that looks at the interactions of multiple protective factors (Beautrais et al., 2005). Understanding suicidal phenomena in the general public has grown exponentially; however, there have been growing shifts to better understand suicidality among marginalized populations. It is imperative to understand risk and protective factors for those who are most at risk to better focus prevention efforts.

### **Minority Stress Model**

A central theory of understanding potential reasons for the mental health disparities in underrepresented individuals is through Meyer's minority stress model

(1995, 2003, 2015). Meyer highlighted that social stress builds on basic stress theory to include social environments and not just personal events that lead to mental and physical concerns (Meyer, 2003). Meyer elaborates on the concept of unique societal stressors minority individuals' experience and results in stigmatization (Meyer, 2003). Meyer (2015) clarifies that his original minority stress model was developed in the context of sexual orientation; however, the model also reflects gender identity.

Meyer's (2003) minority stress model explains two different types of minority stress: distal and proximal. Distal stressors would consist of external, objective stressful events and conditions. Some examples of distal stressors consist of discrimination, rejection, or violence due to the minority identity. Supporting this model, existing literature indicates that external stressors are related to increased levels of distress and negative mental health outcomes for Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) individuals (Almeida et al., 2009; Baams et al., 2015; House et al., 2011; Shipherd et al., 2011). Transgender and nonbinary (TNB) individuals also experience gender-based discrimination, rejection, and/or violence (Goldenberg et al., 2019; Hines, 2009; Porta et al., 2017; Sanchez et al., 2009; Weinhardt et al., 2017).

Another significant component of Meyer's (2003, 2015) minority stress model is the inclusion of "sources of strength", such as social support and coping to ameliorate the negative outcomes of stress. This concept may otherwise be known as protective factors that can buffer the effects of the stressors (Meyer, 2015). Identifying and measuring diverse protective factors has become a principle undertaking in the rhetoric of suicide prevention literature (Cha & Nock, 2008; Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006). Protective factors

can be internal and/or external aspects of defending against and buffering suicidal behavior that can lower the risk of suicidality (Meyer, 2015; Cogan et al., 2020).

The impact of these minority stressors is hypothesized to be lessened by individual resilience and protective factors, such as personal qualities and characteristics, in addition to community resilience, such as affirmation and accepting social networks and supports (Meyer, 2003; 2015). Although a minority status may come with minority stressors, it also has the opportunity to bring affiliation and belongingness with others with shared minoritized group members which may result in validation and a more positive self-evaluation (Meyer, 2003; Schmitt et al., 2006).

Thus, the minority stress model (Meyer, 2003) is an important explanatory mechanism to understand the unique stress factors and protective factors for individuals from marginalized groups. Due to the distal and proximal experiences of oppression-related stressors and the accompanying risk of increased negative mental health outcomes and suicidality, it is vastly important to identify both risk and protective factors.

### **Socioecological Model of Protective Factors**

Bronfenbrenner's (1979) socioecological model provides an additional, and useful framework to conceptualize protective factors. Bronfenbrenner addresses protective factors within several different levels: individual, relationship, community, and societal levels. The individual level may consist of factors such as personality, beliefs, etc. The relationship level, or the microsystem, involves external relationships such as with partners, family, peers, etc. The community level, or the mesosystem, consists of large networks such as schools, social organizations, similar identity-based communities, etc. Bronfenbrenner's model extends into the exosystems and macrosystems, which are often

factors outside of the individuals' control, as well as larger, more abstract levels such as legal, political, and attitudes and norms within a culture. The societal level (macrosystem) includes protective factors within culture, religion, laws, etc.

Bronfenbrenner's socioecological model has typically been used within public health settings to understand protective factors among subgroups, such as those with marginalized sexuality (Armstrong et al., 2016). The socioecological model highlights the importance of each level and how they collectively impact one's well-being and health (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Johns et al., 2019). This model can serve to help identify missing factors between levels to help direct future studies to improve interventions to address health concerns (Johns et al., 2019).

The socioecological model has been suggested as an additional paradigm to understanding the complexity of suicide that incorporate individual factors as well as social and cultural factors (Standley, 2020; White, 2016). A call from Standley (2020) imparts future research to utilize a socioecological model to understand the multifaceted impacted of the different described levels on suicidal ideation and behavior.

### Suicide Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual (LGB) Communities

Although suicide is a health concern for the general public, there are even higher rates for individuals who experience oppression thus resulting in disproportionate rates of suicidality. A majority of underrepresented and underserved populations are some of the highest-risk groups for suicide (Almeida et al., 2009; Hottes et al., 2016).

Although sexuality differs from gender identity, it can be informative to review previous literature on LGB mental health and suicidality. LGB individuals and transgender communities often experience comparable forms of systemic and individual

oppression which can result in similar stressors (Nagoshi et al., 2008). Previous literature has recorded rates of attempted suicides for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer (LGBTQ+) youth anywhere from 14% to 42% (Almeida et al., 2009; D'Augelli et al., 2001; McBee-Strayer & Rogers, 2002; Walls et al., 2008). In comparison to their more privileged counterparts, youth who identify as LGBTQ+ have also been found to have higher rates of suicide ideation, as well as suicide attempts (Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006).

Suicidality among those with marginalized sexual identities is still a relatively understudied population despite elevated risk for suicide. However, a meta-analysis by Marshal et al. (2011) found a significant difference between the 18% of sexual minority youth with a history of suicidal behavior and the 12% of straight youth with a history of suicidal behavior, even after controlling for depression, age, and gender. A partial explanation to the grossly discrepant rates of suicidality between LGB and straight populations is that LGB individuals indicate having increased risk factors, such as experiencing stigma, rejection, and isolation (Kaniuka et al., 2019; Kelleher, 2009; Meyer, 2003).

### Suicide Ideation and Suicide Attempts Among LGB Communities

Similar to general public patterns of suicidality, LGB populations report higher rates of suicidal ideation than suicide attempts. Rimes et al. (2019) found in a sample of 3275 LGB young adults reported 13.6% of lifetime suicide attempts in comparison to 45.2% having suicidal ideation. The study found that reported experiences of stigma and discrimination were associated with suicide attempts, suicidal ideation, and potential future suicide attempts. These findings indicate that risk factors such as stigma and discrimination may indicate overall high rates of suicidality. However, the study was not

able to identify differentiating factors that lead to the different rates of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts; thus, implying additional research to examine differing factors and experiences for LGB communities.

### **Protective Factors Among LGBTQ+ Communities**

Protective factors have been a growing area of interest within LGB populations who experience suicidality. Especially as Meyer's minority stress model highlights the importance of protective factors and their impact on suicidality among LGBTQ+ individuals. An important study was conducted by Hirsch and Ellis (1998) in which they adapted Linehan and colleague's RFT model to analyze "reasons for living" among "homosexual" young adults. This study was crucial for its time, as it follows Meyer's (1995) minority stress model, suggesting specific consideration for marginalized identities. Hirsch and Ellis' study comprised of 24 self-identified "homosexual and lesbian" individuals and 38 "heterosexual" individuals who completed the RFL. The study found that gay men and lesbian women endorsed significantly less reasons to live than the number of reasons their heterosexual counterparts.

An additionally important study focusing on marginalized sexual orientation was by Rutter (2008). Rutter (2008) created a cumulative factor model that assessed previously identified protective and risk factors in past literature for LGB youth who experienced. The specific protective factors included in Rutter's (2008) model included resilience, social support, and optimism. The cumulative factor model helped establish further exploration of salient protective factors for marginalized individuals.

There has been an increased focus on additional protective factors for the LGBTQ+ community that serve as a buffer for negative mental health concerns and

suicidal behaviors. The recent literature has provided insight to the protective factors for LGBTQ+ individuals including but not limited to, family connectedness (Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006; Saewyc et al., 2009), perceived school safety (Eisenberg & Resnick, 2006; Taliaferro et al., 2019), friendship with other LGBTQ+ individuals (Testa et al., 2015), and the "coming out process" (Asakura & Craig, 2014) among other protective factors. Still, this area of research is limited and in its emerging stages.

### **Suicide Among TNB Communities**

It is first important to define and understand the differences for some of the following terminology used throughout the literature review. It is imperative to distinguish that sexual orientation and gender identity are unique and different identity constructs that yield different experiences. Lesbian, gay, bisexual (LGB) refers to sexual orientation and the "T" stands for transgender which is referring to gender identity (Brill & Pepper, 2008; Johnson, et al., 2013; Renn, 2007). Gender identity is one's internal sense of gender (Twist & de Graaf, 2019).

The term transgender can represent a number of gender identities and expressions (James et al., 2016). Transgender can also be considered an umbrella term for people whose gender identity, expression, or behavior is incongruent with their sex assigned at birth (Brill & Pepper, 2008; Lambda Legal, 2008; Lev, 2004, Renn, 2007). Transgender and nonbinary individuals can consist of a range of sexual orientations as some TNB individuals may simultaneously have marginalized gender identities as well as marginalized sexual identities, which can range in intersectional minority experiences and stressors.

Nonbinary can be considered a more common single term for individuals who identify outside of the gender binary (i.e., male, female). Some nonbinary people use specific nonbinary pronouns such as they/them or other developed term such as xe/xyr (Richards et al., 2016). Other identities that exist within the nonbinary umbrella may consist of gender queer, gender fluid, pangender, androgynous, agender; however, this is not an exhausted list (Richards et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2011). However, it is paramount to remember that in an emerging field of gender identity, gender identities often change, and one should continue to attend and use an individual's self-declared identity when undertaking clinical work and research.

Specifically, for TNB individuals, research has indicated suicide rate that range from 18% to 47% (Clements-Noelle et al., 2006; Grant et al., 2010; Maguen & Shipherd, 2010; Moody & Smith, 2013). In comparison, the general public has a suicide attempt rate of approximately 4.6 % (Maguen & Shipherd, 2010). The severe disparity indicates that further investigation is needed to better understand complex factors that would potentially lead to lower rates of suicidality for TNB individuals.

Furthermore, intersectional identities of oppression, such as transgender women of color, have disproportionately high levels of adverse social and mental health outcomes (Bauer et al., 2015). The compounded effects of racism and anti-trans discrimination impact the overall mental health of TNB resulting in higher rates of suicidality (Herman et al., 2019). Herman et al. (2019) analyzed data from the 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey (USTS) which consisted 27,715 respondents from all 50 U.S. states, three U.S. territories, and overseas military bases, and found lifetime suicidal thoughts and attempts had the highest rates among Alaska Native/American Indian, 86.8 and 57.3

respectively, and Biracial/Multiracial individuals, 88.0 and 50.4 respectively. The least reported rates were by White individuals, 80.8% for suicidal thoughts and 37.4% for attempts. Specifically looking at Black and African American transgender individuals resulted with a lifetime ideation of 81.2% and lifetime attempt of 46.6%. These results indicate the intersectional effects of racism and anti-trans experiences resulting in higher levels of suicidal behavior. Additionally noteworthy, among all groups there exists higher rates of suicidal thoughts than attempts for the individuals' lifetime and the past year. These results suggest that TNB individuals experience disproportionately high rates of suicide and further research is necessary to understand the risk and protective factors that influence the rates of suicidality.

### Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts Among TNB Communities

Scarce literature exists understanding the phenomenon of moving from suicidal ideation to suicidal attempts in the general public, but there is even less information regarding TNB individuals. The Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) included a pilot item assessing transgender identity in 2017 and found that 44% of transgender participants reported seriously considering attempting suicide and 34% reported a suicide attempt (Johns et al., 2019). However, as this trend continues to be understood, there have been growing theories that posit potential reasons for the disproportionate rates of suicidal ideation and suicidal attempts.

A systematic review by McNeil et al. (2017) reviewed correlates of suicide ideation and attempts specifically among transgender individuals. Mcneil et al.'s (2017) study was important as it was helpful in identifying individual and environmental factors that were related to suicide ideation and attempts. However, different correlates of suicide

ideation and attempts were not emphasized thus resulting in difficulties differentiating risk for suicide ideation versus attempts.

Therefore, continued research is needed to better understand what factors lead to both suicide ideation and suicide attempts among TNB individuals. Yet, similar to previous LGB studies, there are existing theories that primarily emphasize the risk factors that would partially explain the increase rates of suicidality among TNB individuals, as well as differences in suicidal ideation and suicide attempts.

### **Meyer's s for TNB Communities**

Meyer's (1995; 2003; 2015) minority stress model was foundational in understanding the different types of unique stressors that impact marginalized LGB individuals, resulting in disparate mental health differences. Meyer has also clarified that the minority stress model although originally created in the context of sexual orientation, also applies to gender identity (Meyer, 2015). As previously mentioned, a significant portion of the minority stress model emphasizes the role of resilience and protective factors, such as coping and social supports to buffer the effects of the stressors to reduce negative health outcomes (Meyer, 2015). Thus, the impact of these minority stressors is hypothesized to be lessened by individual resilience, i.e., personal qualities and personality characteristics and community resilience, i.e., affirming/accepting social environments and social support (Meyer, 2003; 2015). Meyer (2015) further explains that one's gender identity has an impact on exposure, not only to minority stress, but also exposure to coping and resilience opportunities, such as relationships within communities with minoritized gender identities. This group affiliation and sense of belonging allows minoritized individuals to evaluate themselves more in relation to individuals similar to

them as opposed to members of dominant groups, thus bringing about validation and a more positive self-evaluation (Meyer, 2003; Schmitt et al., 2006).

Meyer's model (2015) has been applied in other studies to understand the impacts of stressors. To demonstrate how TNB individuals experience distal minority stressors, Nemoto et al. (2011) found in a study of 573 transgender participants in which they reported multiple distal events. Approximately, half of the participants reported being physically assaulted, one third had been assaulted by an intimate partner, two-thirds reported being humiliated and/or ridiculed by a family member for their gender identity or gender expression, and approximately half of participants experienced some form of transphobia due to their appearance or gender expression, resulting in job loss, hiding their gender identity, or experiencing jokes or harassment. These findings highlight the distal stressors TNB individuals can face in their daily lives.

Further literature has found additional distal stressors that TNB individuals experience, such as discrimination to obtain legal documentation with TNB individuals' correct name and gender identity, and use of public restrooms and other public facilities (Russell et al., 2018; Seelman, K. L., 2016). Furthermore, TNB individuals may experience distal stress based on others' responding to their gender identity in non-affirmative interactions (Sevelius, 2013), such as using incorrect pronouns for a TNB individual (Matsuno & Budge, 2017).

The second group of stressors in Meyer's model (2003), known as proximal stressors, consist of anticipation and vigilance of expecting victimization or discrimination, internalization of negative social messages (i.e., internalized homonegativity), and concealing one's sexual orientation. TNB individuals also

experience proximal stressors as they also anticipate experiences of discrimination, as previously mentioned. TNB individuals also can experience internalized transnegativity by incorporating anti-trans and/or anti-nonbinary societal messages (Delozier et al., 2020; Rood et al., 2016).

Tebbe and Moradi (2016) conducted a study that focused on implementing Meyer's (2003) model to the transgender community, as the original model does not include transgender individuals. The study found, in a study of 355, self-identified, transgender people, that internalized antitrans attitudes (internalized transnegativity) and fear of antitrans stigma was significantly correlated with suicidal behaviors. This study highlights internal stressors also have a significant relationship with suicidal outcomes.

### **Gender Minority Stress and Resilience Model (GMSR)**

Most recently, Meyer's model was adapted to create the gender minority stress theory (GMSR; Testa et al., 2015), which looks at unique stressors, both distal and proximal, as well as protective factors for TNB individuals (Hendricks & Testa, 2012; Testa et al., 2015). Some of the distal stressors are similar to Meyer's model, such as experiencing discrimination, rejection, and victimization, but based on gender identity. However, the GMSR highlights TNB individuals' specific distal stressors, such as non-affirmation of gender-identity. GMSR also discusses proximal stressors, such as internalized 'transphobia' and negative expectations regarding gender identity, and concealing authentic gender-identity.

Similar to Meyer's minority stress model, GMSR includes protective factors including community connectedness, referring to the feeling of cohesion within TNB individuals marginalized gender community (Testa et al., 2015). The other protective

factor presented in GMSR is pride, referring to the feeling of acceptance and comfort with one's authentic gender-identity (Testa et al., 2015).

Previous research on the GMSR has demonstrated that the distal stressor of gender-based victimization is associated with increased risk for suicide, such that those who have experienced gender non-affirmation, such as denied access to bathrooms that align with their gender, are approximately 1.5 times more likely to attempt suicide than TNB individuals who have not experienced gender non-affirmation (Seelman, 2016). Similar to trends in general suicidology research, the distal and proximal stressors in the GMSR are frequently studied while the protective factors in the GMSR have little to no research (Cogan et al., 2020). Therefore, continued research is needed to specifically understand the roles of the proposed proactive factors, community connectedness and pride, in relation to other protective factors and to suicidality at large.

### **Protective Factors Among TNB Populations**

There is scarce research; however, a growing area of research is addressing protective factors for the TNB community. Although protective factors and resilience are important components of the minority stress model, little work has focused on factors that might serve to reduce the risk for poor mental health and suicide (Eisenberg et al., 2017; Johns et al., 2018). Some the identified protective factors are, but not limited to, feelings of acceptance, being valued, transitioning and/or hormone treatments, surgeries, family connectedness, acceptance of transgender identities, and friendships with other LGBTQ+ peers (Crosby et al., 2016; Bauer et al., 2015; Kozee et al., 2012; Moody, et al., 2015; Testa et al., 2015). However, there is growing evidence to support the claim that

transgender individuals' have salient protective factors (Moody, et al., 2015; Testa, et al., 2015) against suicidality.

Two of the most instrumental studies come from Moody and Smith (2013) and Moody et al. (2015) as they were one of the leaders that specifically focused on protective factors for trans adults. Moody and Smith (2013) recruited 133 self-identified trans adults and quantitatively measured a number of protective factors, such as optimism, social support, suicide resilience, and reasons for living. The study found that perceived social support from family members, emotional stability (a component of suicide resilience), and child-related concerns (reasons for living) were especially salient within the sample for trans adults with lower levels of suicidality.

A follow up study by Mood et al., was a qualitative investigation of suicide protective factors with 133 trans adults through open-ended questions from an online survey. Some of the main themes that emerged were social support, reasons for living, individual difference factors (e.g., optimism, coping and problem-solving), gender identity related factors (e.g., acceptance with identity, becoming one's self), and transition-related factors (e.g., coming out, hope of transitioning).

The preliminary research has been beneficial in identifying a number of protective factors against suicidality for TNB individuals. Given that previous research has demonstrated optimism (e.g., Moody & Smith, 2013), affirmation and transitioning (Budge et al., 2015; Crosby et al., 2016; Glynn et al., 2016; Moody et al., 2015; Scheim et al., 2020; Vaitses Fontanari et al., 2020) pride (Cogan et al., 2020; Meyer, 2003; Singh et al., 2011; Testa et al., 2015), TNB community connection (Barr et al., 2016; Meyer, 2003; Pflum et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2018; Testa et al., 2015), body congruence (Kozee

et al., 2012), social support (McConnell et al., 2016; Mood & Smith, 2013; Pflum et al., 2015; Trujillo et al., 2017), serve as potential protective factors, these aspects are hypothesized to buffer suicidality for TNB individuals. However, a gap exists, such that few studies have addressed these multiple protective factors uniquely for TNB communities.

### Individual Level Protective Factor

Optimism. As previously stated, optimism has been a central protective factor for both cis and TNB individuals. However in past research, results yield mixed findings in assessing the role of optimism and suicidality, such that some studies have identified a significantly negative relationship between optimism and suicidality (Hirsch et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2013) whereas others did not find a significant relationship between optimism and suicidality (Moody & Smith, 2013). The mixed empirical results suggest that optimism needs further analysis in TNB populations to better understand why and for whom optimism is a protective factor.

Optimism continues to appear in suicidology literature, especially within LGBTQ+ populations as it is one of three protective factors in Rutter's (2008) model and suggests that individuals have favorable expectations for their future. Additionally, optimism is important to continue to evaluate among TNB populations as it is also an important factor in helping TNB individuals overcome adversities (Bry et al., 2017) and found to be a protective factor against suicidality (Moody & Smith, 2013; Moody et al., 2015).

**Pride.** Meyer (2003) initially suggests that a sense of pride in sexual orientation may serve as a protective factor against minority stress experienced by LGB individuals.

Today, there are many LGBTQ+ communities that engage in celebratory pride days, a festivity that often includes parades and increased awareness of LGBTQ+ members within larger communities. Pride days are to recognize the first riots and people who have fought for LGBTQ+ rights in the past, as well as those currently working for LGBTQ+ rights.

As Meyer's minority stress model was applied by Testa et al. (2015) for TNB individuals, pride was included and found to be a protective factor. Overall, viewing one's gender identity in a positive manner is encompassed under the concept of pride (Testa et al., 2015) and there are multiple studies that have suggested that pride is conversely related to poor mental health outcomes (Bockting et al., 2013; Singh, 2013). Additionally, Brennan and colleagues (2017) found for TNB participants that their sense of pride was a negative predictor of suicide attempts. However, further exploration is needed to better understand how pride relates to suicidality and its relationship with other protective factors.

Body Congruence. An understudied, but important protective factor is the role of body congruence for TNB individuals within their TNB identity development (Kozee et al., 2012). Moody and colleagues (2015) also identified the importance of participants "becoming one's self, the person they were meant to be, and living authentically." However, gender identification does not have to be a static process, but may be a more fluid experience for TNB people which can lead to changes in their gender expression (Diamond et al., 2011; Kozee et al., 2012). Transfeminism, a movement born out of the intersectionality of being a transgender woman, posits that TNB individuals create their own identities based on authentic feelings within their own social environments (Corsani,

2007). Therefore, the feeling of genuine comfort by presenting one's self in an authentic expression has been termed 'congruence' or 'body congruence' (Kozee et al., 2012). Previous research has indicated that for those who desire to engage in medical affirmative interventions (i.e., hormones, gender reassignment surgeries, ect.) yields an increased feeling of congruence between the physical body and gender identity (Lindgren & Pauly, 1976; Owen-Smith et al., 2018; Röder et al., 2018).

Body congruence and body satisfaction are similar phenomena, and previous research on body satisfaction in cis populations suggests a negative relationship between external body satisfaction and depressive symptoms, as well as suicidal behaviors (Crow et al., 2008; Murray et al., 2008). Kozee and colleagues (2012) created a measure that moved away from a binary understanding of transgender identity development by focusing on the authentic, diverse, and genuine expression of gender identity. Kozee and colleagues (2012) also found that higher levels of congruence were positively associated with life meaning and satisfaction, as well as being negatively associated with depression more than life meaning. Kozee and colleagues 's findings encourage further study on the role of body congruence among TNB populations in relation to suicidality.

### Relationship Level Protective Factors

**Social Support.** Social support has been seen as an imperative protective factor, not only for the general public (e.g., Chioqueta & Stiles, 2007; Linehan et al., 1983; Kleiman & Liu, 2013), but also for LGB individuals (e.g., Rutter, 2008; Watson et al., 2019) and TNB individuals (McConnell et al., 2016; Moody et al, 2015; Trujillo et al., 2017). There are a growing number of studies that have examined the relationship between social support and suicidal behaviors (e.g., Miller et al., 2015) such that

individuals with less social support are at greater risk of suicidality. Results suggested a significant role for social support in protecting against suicidal ideation. Perceived emotional and social support from friends, parents, partner and family were significantly negatively associated with suicidal ideation and/or attempts (Kota et al., 2020; Shah et al., 2018; Treharne et al., 2020)

In Moody et al.'s (2015) study, one key outcome was the importance of social support as a suicidal protective factor before, throughout, and after an individual transitioned (for those participants who valued transitioning). Further, they found that social circles that understood trans identities, learned more about the experiences of transgender people, and used affirming language proved to be one of the most influential protective components for transgender participants. To further support the value of family support for TNB individuals, Bockting et al. (2013) found that support from family reduced distress for TNB individuals after experiencing gender identity-related stigma.

Although community connectedness was previously discussed, there are existing articles that have found social support from cis social supports, including friends and family, as a predictor of well-being among TNB individuals (Baser et al., 2016).

Additionally, the Canadian trans PULSE Project found in a sample of trans individuals that social support specifically reduced suicide risk (Bauer, 2015). Social support from family and friends can serve as an important protective factor for TNB individuals; however, little research has been done identifying social support differences for TNB individuals with suicidal ideation versus those who attempt suicide.

### Community Level Protective Factor

TNB Community Connectedness. Meyer (2003) also originally posited in the minority stress model that being connected and feeling a sense of belonging in a community is an important buffer against negative mental health outcomes and suicidality. There have been multiple studies that have echoed the importance of connecting to a community with similar marginalized identities, especially for TNB individuals (Pflum et al., 2015; Singh, 2013; Singh et al., 2011).

Another important aspect to Pride days is being around and connecting with others who also are a part of marginalized sexual or gender identities. For example, McDonald (2016) reported on a small city in Manitoba's first official celebration of Pride day. Many queer individuals stated that they felt supported by other LGBTQ+ people and felt supported by their community. One interviewee stated that he had serious suicidal plans but after the Pride event he felt support by having a connection to other LGBTQ+ people in his community. He stated, "don't give up on your community. I thought I had given up on my community—then I saw a couple thousand people walking down the street behind me carrying Pride flags. I realized: my community is behind me. It just takes time" (Mcdonald, 2016).

Too often LGBTQ+ individuals experience estrangement from their families due to their sexual orientation and/or their gender identity and will often seek support through members of their community (Barr et al., 2016). This may be a more salient experience for TNB individuals to find a sense of belonging and connection as TNB individuals report feeling more alienated from mainstream culture (Singh et al., 2011). Furthermore, Meyer's (2003) minority stress model states that distal stressors of discrimination and fear of rejection can be commonly encountered stressors; however, these may be less of a

concern and frequent experience among similarly identifying individuals (Barr et al., 2016; Frost & Meyer, 2012).

Barr et al. (2016) was a foundational study that sought to understand TNB community connectedness by assessing the sense of belonging TNB individuals experienced in the TNB community. Barr et al.'s (2016) study found that community connectedness fully mediated a relationship between the strength of transgender identity and well-being. Therefore, a connection with the TNB community can serve as a protective factor and may suggest the type of connection may play a role to impact suicidal risk.

However, TNB individuals have different opportunities and opportunities to access forms of TNB community connections. Though community connectedness has been supported to be a beneficial aspect for TNB individuals' mental health, there is still scarce literature understanding the impacts of community connectedness in relation to suicidal behavior and how community connectedness interacts with other protective factors.

### Societal Level Protective Factor

Affirmation and Transitioning. Although transitioning and affirmation literature is in its infancy, there are gender identity-related protective factors that appear to be important for TNB individuals. Gender affirmation is an interpersonal process, such that a TNB individual experiences social support and recognition for their gender identity and expression (Bockting, 2008; Nuttbrock et al., 2009). Gender affirmation has also been acknowledged in previous literature under different terminologies; 'gender construction'

(Rodriguez-Madera and Toro-Alfonso 2005), 'transgender identity affirmation' (Nuttbrock et al., 2002), 'gender validation' (Nemoto et al., 2004).

However, it is important to note that gender affirmation can be experienced in different methods, beyond physical and medical options, and not all TNB people indicate that they want to physically and/or medically transition. Yet, for those who do desire to engage in medical transition treatments (i.e., hormones, surgeries) they report better mental health outcomes (de Vries et al., 2014; Moody et al., 2015; Olson-Kennedy & Warus, 2017). Vaitses et al. (2020) found for those who had access to medical affirmative interventions reported less anxiety and depressive symptoms. Engaging in these various forms of transitions may be affirming to a TNB individual's gender identity. Previous research has also acknowledged individuals experiencing gender affirmation through correct pronoun use and chosen name use in various settings, including in social settings as well as on legal documents, such as a passport, driver's license, etc. (Russell et al., 2018).

These protective factors were chosen to be the primary focus for the study due to alignment with the levels within Bronfenbrenner's ecological theory. Additionally, the connection-based protective factors were included as it overlapped theoretical backing from Bronfenbrenner's model as well as the MSM. Lastly, protective factors identified in the GMSR were included due to relevance to the specified target population amongst TNB individuals. Overall, there appears to be a lack of empirical evidence that assess how multiple protective factors impact suicidality in general and even more so among TNB populations.

### APPENDIX C: INFORMED CONSENT DOCUMENT

IRB-21-297

# OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY STUDY INFORMATION SHEET & INFORMED CONSENT TNB DIFFERENTIAL SUICIDAL PROTECTIVE FACTORS STUDY

### STUDY PURPOSE

The purpose of this study is to gain a more comprehensive understanding of important factors and life experiences for transgender and nonbinary (TGNB) individuals. This study has been reviewed by the Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board.

### PROCEDURES FOR THE STUDY:

If you agree to be in the study, you will do the following things:

You will be completing an online questionnaire that is estimated to take between 25-30 minutes of your time. Some of the questions in this study will ask about personal identity, previous history about suicidality, as well as various life experiences. As discussed in the confidentiality section below, the study is an anonymous questionnaire, no identifying information will be collected, and the records of the study will be kept private.

### RISKS OF PARTICIPATION

There are no risks that are anticipated from your participation in the study. You will be asked about past suicidal experiences which may cause some discomfort. You can skip any questions that cause discomfort, and you may stop the survey at any time without penalty.

If you experience discomfort, please contact the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline at 1-800-273-8255, their texting line by texting "GO" at 741741, or the Trans Lifeline at 877-565-8860. The researchers encourage all participants to seek a local Counseling Center in their community, if needed, for further support

For participants outside of the US the following website link,

https://findahelpline.com/i/iasp facilitates finding a helpline in your country. Type in the country you currently are in and the website will provide multiple options for suicide helplines.

#### BENEFITS OF PARTICIPATION

The anticipated benefit of participation is to provide insight into positive life experiences that may or may not exist for TNB individuals.

### CONFIDENTIALITY

This study includes an anonymous questionnaire; as such the records of this study will be kept private. Any written results will discuss group findings and will not include information that will identify you. Research records will be stored on a password-protected computer in a locked office and only researchers and individuals responsible for research oversight will have access to the records. Data will be destroyed three years after the study has been completed.

Note that Qualtrics has specific privacy policies of their own. If you have concerns, you should consult this service directly. Qualtrics' privacy statement is provided at: <a href="http://qualtrics.com/privacy-statement">http://qualtrics.com/privacy-statement</a>.

### CONTACTS FOR OUESTIONS OR PROBLEMS

For questions about the study, contact the researcher, Emily Burish at eburish@okstate.edu or her advisor Tonya Hammer, PhD at tonya.hammer@okstate.edu

For questions about your rights as a research participant or to discuss problems, complaints or concerns about a research study, or to obtain information, or offer input, contact the IRB Office at 223 Scott Hall, Stillwater, OK 74078, 405-744-3377 or irb@okstate.edu

### **VOLUNTARY NATURE OF STUDY**

Taking part in this study is voluntary. You may choose not to take part or may leave the study at any time. Leaving the study will not result in any penalty or loss of benefits to which you are entitled. Your decision whether or not to participate in this study will not affect your current or future relations with Oklahoma State University.

### **COMPENSATION**

At the end of the survey there will be an additional link that will take you to a separate, two-question survey for you to <u>enter a drawing for a chance to win one of five \$50</u>

<u>Visa gift cards</u>. This is also voluntary to enter the drawing. To enter the drawing, you will need to provide a valid email address for the gift card to be sent to if you are one of the five winners. The separate link ensures that your information you answered on the survey is not connected to your personal email and ensuring anonymous responses.

### **CONSENT DOCUMENTATION:**

I have been fully informed about the procedures listed here. I am aware of what I will be asked to do and of the benefits of my participation. I also understand the following statements:

I affirm that I am 18 years of age or older.

YES

NO

I have read and fully understand this consent form. I hereby give permission for my participation in this study.

YES

NO

### APPENDIX D: STUDY MEASURES

Demographi	
	at is your current gender identity? (Please check all that apply)
	Transgender
	Transman
	Transwoman
	FTM (Female to Male)
	MTF (Male to Female)
	Someone on the FTM spectrum
	Someone on the MTF spectrum
	Non-binary/enby
	Androgyne
	Polygender
	Genderqueer
	Gender non-conforming
	Two-spirit
	Gender fluid
O	Other (please specify)
2. Wh	at is your current sexual orientation? (Please check all that apply)
O	Lesbian
O	Gay
O	Bisexual
O	Queer
O	Pansexual
o	Not sure or questioning
o	Asexual
o	Straight
0	Other (please specify)
3. Ho	w do you identify your race/ethnicity (Please check all that apply)
O	Native American/First Nation
O	Black/ African American
O	Hispanic/Latino(a)
o	White, non Hispanic/Latino(a)
o	Asian/Pacific Islander
o	Different Identity (please specify)

4. How old are you?	
5. What is your partnership status (please indicate the item that best describ your situation)?	es
Single, never married	
Single, in a committed relationship	
<ul> <li>Cohabitating</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Married</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Separated or Divorced</li> </ul>	

- Different Status (please specify)\_\_\_\_\_\_\_
- 6. What is the highest level of education you have completed?
  - No formal education

Widowed Remarried

- Did not graduate from High School or earn a GED
- High School Graduate or GED
- Some College/AA degree/Technical School Training
- College Graduate (BA/BS)
- Some graduate school
- Master's Degree
- Doctorate/Medical/Law Degree
- Refuse to answer
- 7. What is your current employment situation?
  - Work full-time
  - Work part-time
  - Self-employed
  - Unemployed
  - Unable to work
  - Homemaker/stay at home parent
  - Student
  - Retired
- 8. What is your current annual household income?
  - 0-\$20,000
  - \$20,001-35,000
  - \$35,001-55,000
  - \$55,001-75,000
  - \$75,001-100,000
  - \$100,001-150,000
  - \$150,001 or above

9. W1	th what religion do yo	ou most closely 1	dentity? (Please check all that apply)
O	Aboriginal Spirituali	ity	
o	Agnostic		
o	Buddhism		
o	Catholicism		
o	Christianity		
o	Hinduism		
o	Islam		
o	Jewish		
o	Judaism		
O	Sikhism		
o	No religion		
O	Other (please specify	У	
10. W	hat pronouns do you	currently use	
	a. Do people use yo	• —	
	Yes(1)	No(2)	Not Applicable(3)
	b. Do people use yo	ur correct prono	ouns at work?
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
	c. Do people use yo	ur correct prono	* *
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
			* *
	d. Do your legal rec	ords (i.e., birth o	certificate, driver's license, passport,
etc.)			
	reflect your correct	pronouns/gende	r marker?
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
11. D	o vou use a name tha	t is different from	m the name you were given at birth?
111 2	Yes	No	Not Applicable
	a. Are you able to g		* *
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
			* *
	b. Are you able to g		
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
	c. Are you able to g	o by your chose	n name with <u>friends</u> ?
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
	d. Are you able to g	o by your chose	n name at <u>school</u> ?
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
	e. Do vour legal rec	ords (i.e., birth o	certificate, driver's license, passport,
etc.)	e. De yeur regui rec	oras (no., onto	vertificate, arriver a meeting, pulsapert,
cic.)	reflect your chosen	nama?	
	reflect your chosen		N. ( A. 1' 11
	Yes	No	Not Applicable
10 11	71.1.1 6.41 6.11	1:	
17 M	anien of the following	ranniies to voiir	current situation regarding hormones

12. Which of the following applies to your current situation regarding hormones and/or surgery?

- I have medically transitioned (hormones and/or surgery)
- I am in the process of medically transitioning
- I am planning to transition, but have not begun
- I am not planning to medically transition
- The concept of "transitioning" does not apply to me
- I am not sure whether I am going to medically transition

### Validity Measure

Please select the option, "does not apply to me:"

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- 3. Maybe
- 4. Does not Apply to me

### **Dependent Variable**

### Suicidality:

1. Have you ever seriously thought about killing yourself?

Yes (1) No (2)

2. Have you ever made a plan about how you would kill yourself?

Yes No

3. How many times have you tried to kill yourself?

### Validity Measure

Are you closely reading and thoughtfully responding to the questions in this survey?

- 1. No
- 2. Yes
- 3. Unlikely
- 4. Probably not

### **Independent Variables**

### Optimism: LOT-R

Please answer the following questions about yourself by indicating the extent of your agreement using the following scale:

- [0] = strongly disagree
- [1] = disagree
- [2] = neutral
- [3] = agree
- [4] = strongly agree

Be as honest as you can throughout, and try not to let your responses to one question influence your response to other questions. There are no right or wrong answers.

0	1	2	3	4
Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
Disagree				Agree

1. In uncertain times, I usually expect the best.	0	1	2	3	4
2. It's easy for me to relax.	0	1	2	3	4
3. If something can go wrong for me, it will.	0	1	2	3	4
4. I'm always optimistic about my future.	0	1	2	3	4
5. I enjoy my friends a lot.	0	1	2	3	4
6. It's important for me to keep busy.	0	1	2	3	4
7. I hardly ever expect things to go my way.	0	1	2	3	4
8. I don't get upset too easily.	0	1	2	3	4
9. I rarely count on good things happening to me.	0	1	2	3	4
10. Overall, I expect more good things to happen to me than bad.	0	1	2	3	4

*Pride: GMSR*Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements.

1. My gender identity or expression makes me feel special and unique.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
2. It is okay for me to have people know that my gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
3. I have no problem talking about my gender identity and gender history to almost anyone.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
4. It is a gift that my gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree

5. I am like other people but I am also special because my gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
6. I am proud to be a person whose gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
7. I am comfortable revealing to others that my gender identity is different from my sex assigned at birth.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
8. I'd rather have people know everything and accept me with my gender identity and gender history.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree

Community Connectedness: GMSR
Please indicate how much you agree with the following statements.

1. I feel part of a community of people who share my gender identity.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
2. I feel connected to other people who share my gender identity.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
3. When interacting with members of the community that shares my gender identity, I feel like I belong.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
4. I'm not like other people who share my gender identity.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree
5. I feel isolated and separate from other people who share my gender identity.	Strongly	Somewhat	Neither	Somewhat	Strongly
	Disagree	Disagree	Agree/Disagree	Agree	Agree

# **Body Congruence: TCS**

Gender identity is defined as the gender(s) that you experience yourself as; it is not necessarily related to your assigned gender at birth. For the following items, please indicate the response that best describes your experience over the past two weeks.

	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
1. My outward appearance represents my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
2. I experience a sense of unity between my gender identity and my body.	1	2	3	4	5
3. My physical appearance adequately expresses my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
4. I am generally comfortable with how others perceive my gender identity when they look at me.	1	2	3	4	5
5. My physical body represents my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
6. The way my body currently looks does <u>not</u> represent my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
7. I am happy with the way my appearance expresses my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	
8. I do <u>not</u> feel that my appearance reflects my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
9. I feel that my mind and body are consistent with one another.	1	2	3	4	5

10. I am <u>not</u> proud of my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5
11. I am happy that I have the gender identity that I do.	1	2	3	4	5
12. I have accepted my gender identity.	1	2	3	4	5

### Social Support: PSS-FR & PSS-FA

The statements which follow refer to feelings and experiences which occur to most people at one time or another in their relationships with <u>friends</u>. For each statement there are three possible answers: Yes, No, Don't know. Please select the answer you choose for each item.

1.My friends give me the moral support I need.	Yes	No	Don't Know
2. Most other people are closer to their friends than I am.	Yes	No	Don't Know
3. My friends enjoy hearing about what I think.	Yes	No	Don't Know
4. Certain friends come to me when they have problems or need advice.	Yes	No	Don't Know
5. I rely on my friends for emotional support.	Yes	No	Don't Know
6. If I felt that one or more of my friends were upset with me, I'd just keep it to myself.	Yes	No	Don't Know
7. I feel that I'm on the fringe of my circle of friends.	Yes	No	Don't Know
8. There is a friend I could go to if I were just feeling down, without feeling funny about it later.	Yes	No	Don't Know
9. My friends and I are very open about what we think about things.	Yes	No	Don't Know
10. My friends are sensitive to my personal needs.	Yes	No	Don't Know
11. My friends come to me for emotional support.	Yes	No	Don't Know
12. My friends are good at helping me solve problems.	Yes	No	Don't Know
13. I have a deep sharing relationship with a number of friends.	Yes	No	Don't Know

14. My friends get good ideas about how to do things or make things from me.	Yes	No	Don't Know
15. When I confide in friends, it makes me feel uncomfortable.	Yes	No	Don't Know
16. My friends seek me out for companionship.	Yes	No	Don't Know
17. I think that my friends feel that I'm good at helping them solve problems.	Yes	No	Don't Know
18. I don't have a relationship with a friend that is as intimate as other people's relationships with friends.	Yes	No	Don't Know
19. I've recently gotten a good idea about how to do something from a friend.	Yes	No	Don't Know
20. I wish my friends were much different.	Yes	No	Don't Know

The statements which follow refer to feelings and experiences which occur to most people at one time or another in their relationships with <u>families</u>. For each statement there are three possible answers: Yes, No, Don't know. Please select the answer you choose for each item.

		1	
1.My family gives me the moral support I need.	Yes	No	Don't Know
2. I get good ideas about how to do things or make things from my family.	Yes	No	Don't Know
3. Most other people are closer to their family than I am.	Yes	No	Don't Know
4. When I confide in the members of my family who are closest to me, I get the idea that it makes them uncomfortable.	Yes	No	Don't Know
5. My family enjoys hearing about what I think.	Yes	No	Don't Know
6. Members of my family share many of my interests.	Yes	No	Don't Know
7. Certain members of my family come to me when they have problems or need advice.	Yes	No	Don't Know
8. I rely on my family for emotional support.	Yes	No	Don't Know
9. There is a member of my family I could go to if I were just feeling down, without feeling funny about it later.	Yes	No	Don't Know
10. My family and I are very open about what we think about	Yes	No	Don't Know

things.			
11. My family is sensitive to my personal needs.	Yes	No	Don't Know
12. Members of my family come to me for emotional support.	Yes	No	Don't Know
13. Members of my family are good at helping me solve problems.	Yes	No	Don't Know
14. I have a deep sharing relationship with a number of members of my family.	Yes	No	Don't Know
15. Members of my family get good ideas about how to do things or make things from me.	Yes	No	Don't Know
16. When I confide in members of my family, it makes me uncomfortable.	Yes	No	Don't Know
17. Members of my family seek me out for companionship.	Yes	No	Don't Know
18. I think that my family feels that I'm good at helping them solve problems.	Yes	No	Don't Know
19. I don't have a relationship with a member of my family that is as close as other people's relationships with family members.	Yes	No	Don't Know
20. I wish my family were much different.	Yes	No	Don't Know

### APPENDIX E: GIFT CARD DRAWING

### Second survey to enter gift card drawing through a different Qualtrics link

Please answer the following questions to be entered into the drawing for one of five \$50 Visa gift cards. A reminder that the email you enter will not be connected to the information you just filled out, therefore keeping your information anonymous.

1.	Would you like to enter the drawing to win one of five \$50 Visa gift cards
	Yes No
2.	Please enter a valid email that the gift card will be sent to:

Thank you again so much for your participation in the study, I am beyond grateful! It is my hope that this study will continue to help clinicians and psychologists better understand important life factors to the trans and nonbinary community to help lower the risk of suicide by creating future transgender and nonbinary suicide prevention programs.

### APPENDIX F: DEBRIEFING STATEMENT

### **Debriefing Statement**

Thank you for participating in this research. In the study, the researcher studied different protective factors that may influence suicidality, such as suicidal ideation and suicide attempts. If you would like a copy of the results of the study, please contact the researcher and arrangements will be made.

Again, your mental health and well-being are incredibly important to us, if you need additional resources after completing the study, please contact the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline at 1-800-273-8255, their texting line by texting "GO" at 741741, the LGBT Helpline at 1-888-843-4564, or the Trans Lifeline at 877-565-8860.

And for participants outside of the US, use this website <a href="https://findahelpline.com/i/iasp">https://findahelpline.com/i/iasp</a> to help you find a helpline in your country, if needed.

The researchers encourage all participants to seek a local Counseling Center in their community, if needed, for further support

Researcher: Emily Burish, MA.
School of Applied Health and Educational Psychology
Oklahoma State University
434 Willard Hall
Stillwater, OK 74078
Email: eburish@okstate.edu

Advisor: Tonya Hammer, PhD School of Applied Health and Educational Psychology Oklahoma State University 700 N. Greenwood Ave. Tulsa, OK Email: tonya.hammer@okstate.edu

If you have questions about your rights as a research volunteer, you may contact the Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) Chair. Email: irb@okstate.edu

Thank you so much for participating. You are valued and you matter!

### APPENDIX G: IRB APPROVAL LETTER



### Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

07/15/2021 Application Number: IRB-21-297

Protective Factors for Transgender and Non-binary Individuals that Distinguish Suicidal Ideation Versus Suicide Attempts: A Structural Proposal Title:

**Equation Modeling Analysis** 

**Emily Burish** Principal Investigator:

Co-Investigator(s):

Faculty Adviser: Tonya Hammer

Project Coordinator: Research Assistant(s):

Processed as: Exempt

**Exempt Category:** 

### Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved

The IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in 45CFR46.

This study meets criteria in the Revised Common Rule, as well as, one or more of the circumstances for which <u>continuing review is not required</u>. As Principal Investigator of this research, you will be required to submit a status report to the IRB triennially.

The final versions of any recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are available for download from IRBManager. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- 1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be approved by the IRB. Protocol modifications requiring approval may include changes to the title, PI, adviser, other research personnel, funding status or sponsor, subject population composition or size, recruitment, inclusion/exclusion criteria, research site, research procedures and consent/assent process or forms.
- 2. Submit a request for continuation if the study extends beyond the approval period. This continuation must receive IRB review and approval before the research can continue. Report any unanticipated and/or adverse events to the IRB Office promptly.
- Notify the IRB office when your research project is complete or when you are no longer affiliated with Oklahoma State University.

Please note that approved protocols are subject to monitoring by the IRB and that the IRB office has the authority to inspect research records associated with this protocol at any time. If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact the IRB Office at 405-744-3377 or irb@okstate.edu.

Sincerely,

Oklahoma State University IRB

### **VITA**

### **Emily Burish**

### Candidate for the Degree of

### Doctor of Philosophy

Dissertation: FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH LOWERED LIKELIHOOD OF

SUICIDAL IDEATION FOR TRANS AND NONBINARY

**INDIVIDUALS** 

Major Field: Counseling Psychology

Biographical:

### **Education:**

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Counseling Psychology at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July, 2022.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Educational Psychology at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in 2019.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Arts in Psychology at University of Wisconsin – Eau Claire, Eau Claire, Wisconsin in 2012.

### **Experience:**

2021-2022	University of Wisconsin Madison Mental Health Services – <i>Pre-</i>
	Doctoral Psychology Intern (APA Accredited)
2020-2021	Oklahoma City Veteran's Affairs Geropsychology Unit –
	Practicum Counselor
2019-2020	Oklahoma State University Counseling Services – Grief Counselor
	Practicum Counselor
2018-2019	Al Carlozzi Center for Counseling at OSU Tulsa – <i>Practicum</i>
	Counselor

### **Professional Memberships:**

American Association of Suicidology

Division 17: Society of Counseling Psychology

Division 44: Society for the Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender